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MINUTES 

FINANCE COMMISSION MEETING 
 

Wednesday, March 26, 2025 - 5:00 p.m. 
City of Huntington Beach 
Civic Center Lower Level 

Meeting Room B-7 
 
 
For the audio recording of the March 26, 2025, Finance Commission Meeting, please visit the 
City’s website at: https://huntingtonbeach.legistar.com/Calendar.aspx 
 
Chair Kelly Gates called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
MEMBERS 
PRESENT: 

Kelly Gates, Chair 
Frank Lo Grasso, Vice-Chair 
David Cicerone, Commissioner  
Scott Dowds, Commissioner 
Paul Geery, Commissioner 
Billy Hamilton, Commissioner 
 

MEMBERS 
ABSENT: 
 

None 
 

STAFF PRESENT Travis Hopkins, Acting City Manager 
David Cain, Interim Chief Financial Officer 
Serena Bubenheim, Assistant Chief Financial Officer 
Thuy Vi, Management Aide, Finance 
Shari Saraye, Buyer 
Jessica Castro, Accounting Technician 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS   
 
Dave Chennault spoke about his concerns regarding late rent payments from Meadowlark Golf 
Course. 
 
CONSENT ITEMS 
 
Approval of Meeting Minutes 
 
Motion:  Moved by Commissioner Billy Hamilton and seconded by Vice-Chair Frank Lo 
Grasso to approve the Finance Commission Meeting Minutes dated February 26, 2025, as 
presented 
 
The motion carried by the following votes:  4-0-2 
Ayes: Cicerone; Gates; Hamilton; Lo Grasso 
Noes: None 
Abstain:  Dowds; Geery 
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DISCUSSION ITEMS AND POTENTIAL RECOMMENDATIONS   
 
D1.  Elan and Breakwater Apartments – Hamilton 

 
Commissioner Hamilton provided an overview of the Elan and Breakwater Apartments’ audited 
financial statements, highlighting the partnership between the City and California Municipal Finance 
Authority (CMFA).  Concerns were expressed over substantial financial leverage and the lack of 
property tax revenue to the City.  Commissioners discussed potential financial risks, questioned the 
long-term viability of the project, and expressed frustration over the City's lack of benefit.  The 
Commission requested further analysis and clearer financial explanations. 
 
Chair Gates discussed Items D2 through D6 out of order. 
 
D6. Audit of Arcis/Meadowlark – Hamilton 
 
City Manager Travis Hopkins suggested that a subcommittee be formed that could meet with the 
auditors to discuss the details of audit areas for Arcis/Meadowlark. 
 
Motion:  Moved by Commissioner David Cicerone and seconded by Commissioner Paul 
Geery to form an ad hoc committee consisting of Chair Kelly Gates and Commissioners, 
Paul Geery and Scott Dowds to review audit areas for an audit of Arcis/Meadowlark Golf 
Course  
 
The motion carried by the following votes:  6-0 
Ayes: Cicerone; Dowds; Gates; Geery; Hamilton; Lo Grasso 
Noes: None 
 
D2. Ad Hoc Committee to Review City Financial Reporting and Timing Schedule – Cicerone 
 
Commissioner Cicerone emphasized the need for timely, transparent, and accessible financial 
reporting, advocating for a regularly updated financial dashboard on the City's website. 
 
Motion:  Moved by Commissioner Paul Geery and seconded by Commissioner Scott 
Dowds to form an ad hoc committee consisting of Vice-Chair Frank Lo Grasso and 
Commissioners Billy Hamilton and David Cicerone to review the City’s Financial Reporting 
and Timing Schedule 
 
The motion carried by the following votes:  6-0 
Ayes: Cicerone; Dowds; Gates; Geery; Hamilton; Lo Grasso 
Noes: None 
 
D5. Arcis Outstanding Balance and Collection Efforts – Cicerone  

 
Commissioner Cicerone asked for status of collection from Arcis of the outstanding rent balance.  
Hopkins stated that Arcis made a partial payment but disputes the adjusted remaining balance.  The 
City Attorney’s Office will evaluate the matter. 
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D3. Mid-year Budget Review – Cain 
 
Assistant Chief Financial Officer Serena Bubenheim presented the FY 2024-25 Mid-Year Budget 
Update. She stated that the City ended FY 23/24 with a surplus of $2.7 million and projects a current-
year surplus of $2.3 million.  Property tax revenues remain strong, while sales tax revenues have 
declined due to inflation and lower auto sales.  General Fund expenditures total approximately 
$275M, including pension obligations.  Structural deficits remain a concern moving forward. 

D4. Reserve Policy Review – Cain 
 
Cain reviewed the City's reserve policies, emphasizing the importance of managing the City's 
financial reserves appropriately to address future needs. There was a detailed discussion on current 
reserve policies, fund categorization, and related fiscal responsibilities.  Cain highlighted the 
importance of maintaining healthy reserves to sustain AAA credit rating. 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
Cicerone stated that he provided the Commission with a map of the Equestrian Center and noted 
that the area used for the Therapeutic Riding Center and the Riding Arena are outside of the leased 
property and on City-owned land.  He would like to discuss why the owner is utilizing the land without 
paying for it. 
 
The Commissioners thanked outgoing staff members Cain and Bubenheim for their service. 
 
Gates reported that the former City Attorney stated that his office was not involved in the Elan and 
Breakwater contracts. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 
Motion:  Moved by Chair Kelly Gates and seconded by Vice-Chair Frank Lo Grasso to 
adjourn the meeting at 7:44 p.m.  
 
The motion carried by the following votes:  6-0 
Ayes: Cicerone; Dowds; Gates; Geery; Hamilton; Lo Grasso 
Noes: None 
 
Submitted by: 
Robert Torrez, Interim Chief Financial Officer 
By:  Thuy Vi, Management Aide 
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Finance Commission 
Current & Proposed Future Agenda Items

March –

• Elan & Breakwater Apartments

• City - Reserve Policy Review

• City - Mid-year Budget Update

• Report out on Meadowlark Golf Course 
Task Force February 2025 meeting

• Ad Hoc Committee Financial 
Reporting 

• Other Commission Items:
• Arcis – Update / Request for 

another audit
2

• April –

• City - Proposed Budget Review

• City - PAFR Review

• City – Citywide Lease Overview

• City – Visit HB Discussion



Finance Commission – City Items
Updated 2025 Calendar

1. January – Fiscal Year End Audit / Review of ACFR
2. February - Mid-Year Budget Adjustments / LRFP Overview
3. March – Mid-year Budget Review / Reserve Policy Review
4. April - Proposed Budget Review / PAFR Review
5. May – Proposed CIP and Infrastructure Projects and Report Card
6. June - Single Audit, and overview of new GASB Standard Requirements
7. July - Adopted Budget Review / Long Range Plan Review
8. August – Investment Review 
9. September - Economic Development Review
10. October – Pension Update / Debt and Refinancing Opportunities 
11. November - Finance / Budget Policy Review / Reserves
12. December – Legislative Update / Review and Update on CIP Projects
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BUDGET CALENDAR
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EventDate

All Budget Forms Due back from DepartmentsJanuary 31, 2025

Department Meetings with the CFO / Budget TeamFebruary 2025

Mid-Year Budget Review by Finance CommissionFebruary 2025

Department Meetings with the City ManagerMarch 2025

Proposed Budget Review by Finance CommissionApril 2025

FY 2025/26 Proposed Budget Study SessionMay 20, 2025

Proposed CIP / Infrastructure Projects review by Finance 
Commission

May 2025

FY 2025/26 Budget City Council Public HearingJune 3, 2025

FY 2025/26 Budget Adoption (Tentative)June 17, 2025

Fiscal Year BeginsJuly 1, 2025

Adopted Budget Review by Finance CommissionJuly 2025



Finance Commission 
Recurring / Requested / Parking Lot

Recurring 

• Friends of the Library – Sub Committee Update

• Meadowlark Golf – Task Force Update (Meets Quarterly)

Requested Items for Future Agenda

• Citywide Leases – Presentation by City Staff

• Visit HB – Presentation and Review

Parking Lot Items – Future Meeting Items

• Pension Overview

• PAFR Review - March
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CMFA SPECIAL FINANCE AGENCY VIII 

SENIOR ESSENTIAL HOUSING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021A-1 

JUNIOR ESSENTIAL HOUSING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021A-2 

(ELAN HUNTINGTON BEACH) 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ANNUAL REPORT

FOR THE

FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 
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I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated August 31, 2021 (the “Disclosure Agreement”), the CMFA 
Special Finance Agency VIII (the “Agency”) hereby provides its continuing disclosure annual report for the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2024 (the “Continuing Disclosure Annual Report”) in connection with the Agency’s Senior 
Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and Junior Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-2 
(Elan Huntington Beach) (collectively, the “Bonds”). 

Each maturity of the Bonds is identified by the corresponding CUSIP Number set forth below.  The CUSIP numbers 
below are provided for the convenience of Bondholders.  The Agency is not responsible for the accuracy or 
completeness of such numbers. 

Series Maturity Date CUSIP 

2021A-1 August 1, 2056 12574VAA0 
2021A-2 August 1, 2047 12574VAB8 

Other Matters:  This Continuing Disclosure Annual Report is provided solely pursuant to the Disclosure Agreement.  
The filing of this Continuing Disclosure Annual Report does not constitute or imply any representation (i) that all of 
the information provided is material to investors, (ii) regarding any other financial, operating or other information 
about the Agency, the Facilities, or the Bonds, or (iii) that no changes, circumstances or events have occurred since 
the end of the fiscal year to which this Continuing Disclosure Annual Report relates (other than as contained in this 
Continuing Disclosure Annual Report), or any other date specified with respect to any of the information contained in 
this Continuing Disclosure Annual Report, or that no other information exists, which may have a bearing on the 
security for the Bonds, or an investor’s decision to buy, sell, or hold the Bonds.  The information contained in this 
Continuing Disclosure Annual Report has been delivered by the Program Administrator.  No statement in this 
Continuing Disclosure Annual Report should be construed as a prediction or representation about future financial 
performance of the Agency or the Facilities.  

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII 

Dated: January 15, 2025 



Pursuant to the Disclosure Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Annual Report of the Agency shall include the 
following information:   

(a) (1) audited financial statements for the Agency, on a consolidated basis, and (2) audited financial 
statements for the Facilities, supplied by the Project Administrator pursuant to the Project Administration 
Agreement in each case including a balance sheet and related statements of income and changes in 
financial position as of the end of such fiscal year and for such fiscal year, which shall be prepared and 
reported on without qualification by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with 
GAAP, and shall fairly present the financial condition of the Agency and the Facilities, as applicable, as 
of the end of such fiscal year;   

(b) a certificate signed by the Disclosure Representative stating that (1) during such fiscal year to the best 
of the Agency’s actual knowledge, the Agency has observed and performed all of its covenants and 
agreements set forth in the Indenture and the other Bond Documents, except as disclosed in such 
certificate, and (2) no Event of Default has occurred or exists, except as disclosed in such certificate; and   

(c) an occupancy report provided by the Project Administrator pursuant to the Project Administration 
Agreement stating each lease of all or any part of the Facilities in effect as of the last day of the month 
prior to the date of delivery thereof, and including the breakdown of (1) units by each income restriction 
category pursuant to the Regulatory Agreement, (2) market rate units, and (3) other units to the extent 
tenant income is unknown at the time.  

As described above, the audited financial statements of the Agency and the Facilities for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2024 are set forth in Appendices A and B hereto, respectively.  The occupancy report and the Disclosure 
Representative certificate are set forth in Appendices C and D hereto, respectively. 
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AGENCY
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII

Carlsbad, California

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII (the "Agency"),

which comprise the consolidated statement of net position as of June 30, 2024, and the related consolidated

statements of revenues, expenses and change in net position, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the

related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the

consolidated financial position of the Agency as of June 30, 2024, and the change in net position and cash flows

for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

("GAAP").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America ("GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to

be independent of CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance

with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with GAAP, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the

preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are

conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Agency's ability to continue

as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that

includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and

therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material

misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,

individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the

consolidated financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

% Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

% Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures

include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements.

% Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of Agency’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

% Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

% Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise

substantial doubt about Agency's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that

we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that a management's discussion

and analysis and the budgetary comparison information, be presented to supplement the financial statements.

Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the financial statements, is

required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) who considers it to be an essential part of

financial reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical

context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of

management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency

with management's responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained

during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the

information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or

provide any assurance.
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Report on Consolidating Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a

whole.  The consolidating statement of net position, consolidating statement of revenues, expenses, and change

in net position, and consolidating statement of cash flows, are presented for purposes of additional analysis of

the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the financial position, change in net position, and

cash flows of the individual companies and are not a required part of the consolidated financial statements.  Such

information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying

accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements.  The consolidating

information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial

statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to

the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the

consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing

standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all

material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Wipfli LLP

Radnor, Pennsylvania

January 15, 2025
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E&-9 &'3$0&-9$)g1/T&5)'+- aSi?c=@$ ccA?A==$ iS?Sbb$

_)-+8/0+)3$0&-9 &'3$/'T)-+*)'+- SA?Sb@?>dc$ Sa?A=@?===$ J=?@A>?@AaK

j+9)8$0188)'+$&--)+- @b@?cb@$ @>b?@>=$ d=?Adb$

j+9)8$&--)+- S=i?ca>?iS@$ S=a?dSi?cb@$ J@?SAi?Sd>K

Total assets 150,870,922 156,121,661 (5,250,739)

Liabilities:

E188)'+$5/&O/5/+/)- @?bAd?AbS$ =?=aa?@=a$ JA@d?aAcK

k2'(^+)8*$O2'3-$G&6&O5) Sc>?@A>?ai@$ Sc@?@>c?b=d$ JS?bcc?SdcK

Total liabilities 163,189,243 165,584,175 (2,394,932)

.)D)88)3$/'D52Q$2D$8)-2180)- @d@?>@A$ ^ @d@?>@A$

Net position (deficit) (12,600,345) (9,462,514) (3,137,831)

ASSETS

Restricted Cash and Investments

_)-+8/0+)3$0&-9 &'3$/'T)-+*)'+- &8)$-)+$&-/3)$D28$-G)0/L)3$G18G2-)-?$-109$&-$8)D1'3&O5)$3)G2-/+-$+2$+)'&'+-?$-)8T/0/'($2D$

+9)$V82P)0+,-$21+-+&'3/'($3)O+$2O5/(&C2'-$&'3$+9)$02'-+810C2'$2D$0&G/+&5$&--)+-N$F109$&--)+-$9&T)$O))'$8)-+8/0+)3$O6$

)/+9)8$O2'3$/'3)'+18)?$5&Q$28$+9821(9$02'+8&0+1&5$2O5/(&C2'-N

B9)$8)310C2'$/'$8)-+8/0+)3$0&-9$Q&-$31)$+2 8)5)&-)-$2D$0)8+&/'$8)-)8T)$D1'3-$1G2'$*))C'($3)O+$-)8T/0)$02T)8&()$

+98)-9253-N
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII

%&'&()*)'+,-$./-01--/2'$&'3$4'&56-/-$

728$+9)$:)&8$;'3)3$<1')$=>?$@>@A

NET POSITION

B9)$D2552Q/'($+&O5)$G8)-)'+-$&$02'3)'-)3 02'-25/3&+)3$-+&+)*)'+$2D$8)T)'1)-?$)UG)'-)-$&'3$09&'()$/'$')+$G2-/C2'$D28$

+9)$6)&8-$)'3)3$<1')$=>?$@>@A? &'3$@>@=N$

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position

2024 2023 Change

jG)8&+/'($8)T)'1)- d?@ib?bac$ a?bdc?@>c$ @a=?aa>$

jG)8&+/'($)UG)'-)- c?cSd?@ba$ c?aAA?bai$ JS@c?cadK

l2'2G)8&+/'($)UG)'-)- A?aab?iSS$ i?>da?A=b$ J=>a?b@dK

Change in net position (3,137,832) (3,846,208) 708,376 

l)+$G2-/+/2'$^ O)(/''/'($2D$6)&8 Jb?Ac@?iS=K Ji?cSc?=>cK J=?dAc?@>aK

Net Position - end of year (12,600,345) (9,462,513) (3,137,831)

LIABILITIES

Bonds Payable

Y2'3-$G&6&O5) 3)08)&-)3$/'$7:@>@A$O6 `S?bcS?SdcN$B9/-$02*G8/-)-$&$G8/'0/G&5$G&6*)'+ 2'$+9)$F)8/)-$@>@S4$Y2'3- 2D

`S?dS>?>>> &-$Q)55$&- `SiS?Sdc &*28CR&C2'$2D$+9)$O2'3$G8)*/1*N

OPERATING REVENUES

jG)8&C'($8)T)'1)-$/'08)&-)3$2T)8$+9)$G8)T/21- 6)&8$O6$`@a=?aa>N$B9/-$Q&-$*&/'56$31)$+2 +9)$/'08)&-)$/' 8)'+&5$8&+)-

&'3$-1-+&/'*)'+$2D 2001G&'06 8&+)- D28$+9)$G)8/23N$B9)$/'08)&-)$/'$8)-/3)'C&5$/'02*)$Q&-$31)$+2 8)'+&5$8&+) /'08)&-)-N

Operating revenues: 2024 2023 Change 

_)'+&5$/'02*) a?ca>?dAc a?>cc?A=A c>A?AS@

j+9)8$/'02*) idb?S=> bSb?aa@ J==>?cA@K

Total operating revenues 8,259,976 7,986,206 273,770

OPERATING EXPENSES

jG)8&C'($)UG)'-)-$3)08)&-)3$D82*$`c?aAA?bai$/'$7:@>@= +2$`c?cSd?@ba /'$7:@>@A m &$3)08)&-)$2D$`S@c?cadN$B9/-$/-$31)$

+2$&$3)08)&-)$/'$8)G&/8 &'3$*&/'+)'&'0)$02-+-$D28$+9) L-0&5$6)&8N
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Consolidated Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2024

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 715,632

Restricted cash 288,348

Restricted investments 13,903,738

Tenants accounts receivable 14,525

Lease receivables, current portion 244,989

Prepaid expenses and other assets 33,178

Total current assets 15,200,410

Lease receivables, net of current portion 1,721

Capital assets, net 135,618,647

Leasing commissions, net 50,144

Total assets $ 150,870,922

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Net Position

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 360,585

Accrued expenses 72,372

Accrued interest 2,222,667

Security deposits 287,867

Current portion of bonds payable 5,000

Total current liabilities 2,948,491

Long-term bonds payable, net 160,240,752

Total liabilities 163,189,243

Deferred inflow of resources 282,024

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets (26,849,772)

Restricted for debt service and other purposes 14,191,605

Unrestricted 57,822

Total net position (deficit) (12,600,345)

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, and net position $ 150,870,922

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Consolidated Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Operating revenues:

Rental income $ 7,670,846

Other income 589,130

Total operating revenues 8,259,976

Operating expenses:

Advertising 36,820

Depreciation and amortization 4,119,352

General and administrative 168,694

Insurance 188,254

Other 207,760

Property management fees 207,493

Project administration fees 250,000

Repairs and maintenance 458,100

Salaries and benefits 451,936

Utilities 529,888

Total operating expenses 6,618,297

Net operating income 1,641,679

Nonoperating income (expense):

Interest expense (5,193,648)

Interest income 414,137

Total nonoperating expense (4,779,511)

Change in net position (3,137,832)

Net deficit at June 30, 2023 (9,462,513)

Net deficit at June 30, 2024 $ (12,600,345)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 8,504,966

Cash paid to suppliers and service providers (2,950,701)

Net cash flows from operating activities 5,554,265

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Purchases of capital assets (1,922,045)

Payments for leasing commissions (50,406)

Principal payments on bonds (1,810,000)

Interest payments on bond (5,375,000)

Net cash flows from financing activities (9,157,451)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Net change in restricted investments 3,068,094

Interest income 414,137

Net cash flows from investing activities 3,482,231

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (120,955)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of year 1,124,935

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year $ 1,003,980
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Net operating income $ 1,641,679

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 4,119,352

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Tenant accounts receivable 53,248

Prepaid expenses and other assets 108,252

Lease receivables (246,710)

Accounts payable 81,739

Accrued expenses (491,747)

Deferred inflow of resources 265,994

Security deposits 22,458

Total adjustments 3,912,586

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 5,554,265

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 715,632

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Tenant security deposits 287,867

Restricted cash equivalents in accordance with bond indenture 481

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 1,003,980

Supplemental cash flow information:

Noncash financing activities:

Amortization of bond premium $ (151,186)

Accrued interest 30,166

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1: Organization, Operations and Reporting Entity

The CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII (the "Agency") was organized on July 1, 2021 under the provisions of the

Joint Exercise of Powers Act (Act) of the Government Code of the State of California. The Agency is a joint

exercise of powers authority and public entity formed pursuant to a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement

(Agreement) between the California Municipal Finance Authority (the Authority) and the City of Huntington

Beach, California (City) as charter members, to which certain cities and counties may in the future join as

additional members. The Agency is authorized and empowered under the Act and the Agreement to issue bonds

to undertake the financing and/or refinancing of any purpose or activity permitted under the Act or any other

law, including projects that provide affordable local housing for low-income, median-income and moderate-

income families and individuals. The Agency is governed by the Board of Directors consisting of, ex officio, the

board of directors of the Authority.

Elan Huntington Beach, Huntington Beach, California (Elan)

On August 31, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-1 (Senior Bonds), Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-2 (Junior Bonds) and Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series

2021B (Series 2021-B Bonds). The Series 2021B Bonds were directly issued to, or at the direction of, Catalyst

Housing Group LLC, a California limited liability company (Catalyst) in exchange for the sale and assignment of

certain assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to the project, a business plan for the Agency, and

certain intellectual property created by Catalyst for the Agency. The bonds, with an aggregate principal amount of

$155,295,000 were issued pursuant to a Trust Indenture (the "Indenture") by and between the Agency and

Wilmington Trust, National Association, (the "Trustee") to finance the acquisition of a 274-unit multifamily

residential community that also contains approximately 7,923 square feet of ground floor retail space and related

improvements, personal property and equipment known as Elan Huntington Beach located at 18504 Beach

Boulevard, Huntington Beach, California (the "Project").

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Agency and its subsidiary, Elan

Huntington Beach, after elimination of all material intercompany transactions and accounts.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Agency's consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in

accordance with GAAP as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Under the accrual basis,

revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred,

regardless of the timing of the cash flows.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the

consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible to cash and

have remaining maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition.  

Restricted Cash and Investments and Investment Income

Restricted cash and investments represent the unspent proceeds of the bonds that are held by the Trustee. These

investments are made up of various funds that were required to be funded by the Indenture. Also included in

restricted cash are tenant security deposit funds. See Note 3 for a listing of the funds held by the Trustee.

Restricted investments are made up of money market funds and guaranteed investment contracts. The

guaranteed investment contracts are considered trading securities, therefore are measured at fair value.

All investment income is reported as nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the accompanying consolidated

statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. Realized gains or losses are determined by specific

identification.

Tenant Accounts Receivable

Tenant accounts receivable are uncollateralized residential rents, which are due at the beginning of each month.

Payments of tenant receivables are allocated to the specific charges identified on the tenant’s remittance or, if

unspecified, are applied to past due balances first, then the current unpaid charges. Management individually

reviews all tenant receivables and based on an assessment of current creditworthiness, estimates the portion, if

any, of the balance that could be uncollectible. Any amounts that remain outstanding after management has

used reasonable collection efforts are deemed uncollectible and written-off through a charge to the valuation

allowance and elimination of the tenant accounts receivable. There is $1,833 of uncollectible allowance recorded

as of June 30, 2024.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary

transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  A three-tier hierarchy prioritizes the inputs

used in measuring fair value.  These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted market

prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that are

either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market

data exists, therefore, requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.  The asset's or liability's fair value

measurement within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value

measurement.

Tenant Security Deposit Funds

Tenant security deposits represent tenant deposits held in accordance with the respective tenant's lease

agreement which are held in trust for the tenants until they vacate the property. Any amounts not returned to

the tenant due to lease violations are transferred to the Project's general operating account.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are defined by the Agency as assets with an initial, individual cost of $1,000 or more and an

estimated useful life of more than one year. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical

cost, if actual cost is not available, and when placed in service. Capital assets are depreciated on a straight-line

basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets (3 - 30 years). Depreciation of capital assets is recorded as an

expense against operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Management reviews the recoverability of its capital assets in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement

No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. GASB

Statement No. 42 requires the recognition of impairment of capital assets in the event an asset's service utility

has declined significantly and unexpectedly. Accordingly, management evaluates its assets' utility annually or

when an event occurs that may impair recoverability of the asset.

Long-Lived Assets

The Agency reviews its long-lived assets periodically to determine potential impairment by comparing the

carrying value of those assets with the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use

of the assets, including cash flows from disposition.  Should the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash

flows be less than the carrying value, the Agency would recognize an impairment loss at that time.  No

impairment loss was recognized in the fiscal year 2024.

Leasing Commission Costs

Leasing commissions have been capitalized and are amortized over the related lease term using the straight-line

method. Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $261.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the consolidated statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section of

deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources,

represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an

outflow of resources (expense) until then. At this time, the Agency has no items that are reported in this

category.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred

inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents the

acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources

(revenue) until that time.

Original Issue Premium

Original issue premium represents the difference between the face value of the bonds and the consideration

received. Original issue premium is deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line

method. Amortization of the premium is reflected as a decrease to interest expense in the consolidated

statement of revenues, expenses, and change in net position.

Net Position

Net position of the Agency is classified in three components:

% Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, including bond proceeds held for capital assets,

net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by any outstanding borrowings used to finance the

purchase or construction of those assets.

% Restricted for debt service and other purposes is net position that is restricted for the future payment of

debt and is required to be held under an agreement with the Trustee, as well as other funds included in

restricted investments.

% Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position that does not meet the definition of net investment

in capital assets or restricted for debt service and other purposes.

Income Taxes

As an essential government function, the Agency and Project are generally exempt from federal and state income

taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code and a similar provision of state law.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Advertising Expenses

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs expensed during the year ended June 30, 2024 were

$36,820. 

Revenue Recognition

Housing units are rented under operating lease agreements with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms

are one year or less. Rent income from tenants is recognized in the month in which it is earned rather than

received. Other income consists of income from pet rent, parking, laundry, and utility reimbursements from

tenants.

GASB 87 Lease Accounting

The Project is a lessor in multiple housing units lease agreements. The Project accounts for its leases in

accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB"), Statement No. 87, Leases. If the

contract provides the right to substantially all the economic benefits and the right to direct the use of the

identified asset, it is considered to be or contain a lease. Lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources are

recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the future lease payments over the

expected lease term. The deferred inflow of resources is also adjusted for any lease prepayments made, lease

incentives received, and initial direct costs incurred. See Note 9 for leases.

The Project uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Project has elected to not recognize lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources for short-term leases

that have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease commencement and do not include an option to renew the

lease agreement. Leases containing termination clauses in which either party may terminate the lease without

cause and the notice period is less than 12 months are deemed short-term leases. The Project recognizes short-

term lease income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Subsequent Events 

The Agency has evaluated subsequent events through January 15, 2025, which is the date the consolidated

financial statements were available to be issued.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments

The Agency's restricted cash and investments are subject to several types of risk:

Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that the changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair

value of an investment. The Agency does have a formal investment policy for interest rate risk.

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that the issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its

obligations. At June 30, 2024, the Agency’s investments were not rated.

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Agency's deposits

may not be returned to it. The Agency does have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. The Project's deposits

are held with the Trustee and are fully insured. The Agency's deposits are collateralized.

Although not part of the Indenture, included in restricted cash and cash equivalents are tenant security deposits

of $287,867 as of June 30, 2024. As such, this amount is not included in the table below summarizing restricted

cash and investments by fund.

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Agency was required to establish certain restricted reserves with bond proceeds

that were funded at closing for the bond issuance. All reserve accounts are restricted for specific use and

withdrawals from the restricted accounts are subject to approval by the Trustee.

The following table provides a summary of restricted investments by fund as required by the Indenture:

Fund/Account Name 2024

Revenue fund $ 696,828

Operating Reserve fund 448,493

Administrative Expenses fund 163,637

Excess Revenue fund 3,002

Extraordinary Expense fund 500,000

Project Acquisition fund 41,924

Environmental Assurance fund 44,009

Capital Reserve fund 1,186,580

Senior Debt Service account 1,210,997

Senior Debt Service Reserve fund 3,015,000

Junior Debt Service account 770,941

Junior Debt Service Reserve fund 1,991,800

Subordinate Debt Service account 3,830,527

Total $ 13,903,738
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Revenue Fund

Pursuant to the Project Administration Agreement (Note 7), at the end of each month, the operator is required to

transfer all monies into the revenue fund held by the Trustee as soon as practicable as long as any bonds remain

outstanding.

Operating Reserve Fund

The operating reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account. If at any time the

amount on deposit in the operating reserve fund exceeds the operating reserve requirement, amounts in excess

of the operating reserve requirement shall be deposited into the revenue fund.  As of June 30, 2024, the deposits

on hand in the operating reserve fund met the operating reserve requirement of $448,493.

Administrative Expenses Fund

The administrative expenses fund shall be used only for the purpose of paying administrative expenses.  In the

event the amount in the administrative expenses fund is insufficient to pay the administrative expenses, the

Trustee shall apply amounts in the operating reserve fund for the payment of administrative expenses.

Excess Revenue Fund

Excess revenue fund shall be applied first to the revenue fund to satisfy any insufficiency of payments required

pursuant to flow of funds, and then to the redemption of bonds.  On the first date upon which no bonds remain

outstanding, any and all moneys in the excess revenue fund shall be transferred by the Trustee to the project

jurisdiction.

Extraordinary Expense Fund

The extraordinary expense fund is used to pay for extraordinary expenses, as approved by the Agency and

processed by the Trustee.  The Trustee will disburse monies from the extraordinary expense fund to the Agency

for certain expenses meeting the extraordinary definition in the Indenture.  After discharge of the Indenture, the

Agency shall retain any monies in the extraordinary expense fund, unless a different arrangement is agreed to at

the Agency's discretion.  As of June 30, 2024, the deposits on hand in the coverage reserve fund met the coverage

reserve deposit requirement of $500,000.

Project Acquisition Fund

The project acquisition fund is used to pay the amounts required by the provision of the Indenture Agreement

and make disbursements of amounts in accordance with a request of the project administrator for the purposes

of paying a portion of the purchase price of the Project.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Environmental Financial Assurance Fund

The environment financial assurance fund shall be used solely for the purposes of satisfying the financial

assurance mechanism pursuant to the Indenture.

Capital Reserve Fund

The capital reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account.  The monies in this

account shall be used for the purposes of paying for capital expenses included in the capital budget or otherwise

expressly authorized by the project administration agreement and capital expenses not included in the capital

budget with the prior written consent of the Agency.

Senior Debt Service Account

The senior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the Senior Bonds,

the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before each

principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date.

Senior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The senior debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service subaccount of the

debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the senior debt service reserve fund met the

requirement outlined in the trust indenture.

Junior Debt Service Account

The junior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the Junior Bonds,

the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before each

principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date. 

Junior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The junior debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the junior debt service subaccount of the

debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the junior debt service reserve fund met the

requirement outlined in the Indenture.

Subordinate Debt Service Account

The subordinate debt service account is used to fund any interest that is due and payable on the next ensuing

interest payment on each series of outstanding subordinate bonds.  
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

Quoted market prices are used to determine the fair value of investments in publicly traded equity securities and

exchange traded funds. Certificates of deposit, corporate bonds, and government obligations are valued using

quotes from pricing vendors based on recent trading activity and other observable market data.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable

value or reflective of future fair value. Furthermore, while the Agency believes their valuation methods are

appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to

determine the fair value could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Information regarding assets at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2024, is as follows:

Recurring Fair Value Measurements Using

Investment Type

Total Assets at

Fair Value

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets for

Identical

Assets

(Level 1)

Significant

Other

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3)

Money market mutual funds $ 7,948,444 $ 7,948,444 $ - $ -

Guaranteed investment contracts 5,955,294 - 5,955,294 -

Totals $ 13,903,738 $ 7,948,444 $ 5,955,294 $ -

Following is a description of the valuation methodology and significant inputs used for each asset and liability

measured at fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring basis, as well as the classification of the asset or liability

within the fair value hierarchy.

Money market funds - The fair value of money market funds are based on inputs that are observable, such as

quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities and credit risk.

Guaranteed investment contracts - The fair value of guaranteed investment contracts are based on inputs that

are observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities

and credit risk. Interest rate is 1.63%. The contract issuer is contractually obligated to repay the principal and

interest at the specified interest rate that is guaranteed to the investment holder. The investment holder may

withdraw the full principal balance on deposit, terminating the contract, at any time.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 5: Capital Assets

The capital assets balance at June 30, 2024, consists of the following activity:

Balance

June 30, 2023 Additions Deletions

Balance

June 30, 2024

Capital assets not depreciated:

Land $ 27,705,748 $ - $ - $ 27,705,748

Capital assets depreciable:

Building and improvements 117,093,895 1,869,988 - 118,963,883

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 507,725 52,057 - 559,782

Total depreciable capital assets 117,601,620 1,922,045 - 119,523,665

Less accumulated depreciation:

Building and improvements (7,466,091) (4,011,135) - (11,477,226)

Furniture, fixtures and equipment (25,584) (107,956) - (133,540)

Total accumulated depreciation (7,491,675) (4,119,091) - (11,610,766)

Total capital assets, depreciable (net) 110,109,945 (2,197,046) - 107,912,899

Capital assets, net $ 137,815,693 $ (2,197,046) $ - $ 135,618,647

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $4,119,091.

Note 6: Bonds Payable

On August 31, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-1 (Senior Bonds) (Series

2021A-1 Bonds) in the amount of $100,500,000 and Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-2 (Junior

Bonds) (Series 2021A-2 Bonds) in the amount of $49,795,000, collectively, the Series 2021A Bonds. The proceeds

of the Series 2021A Bonds were used for financing the cost of the acquisition of a multifamily rental housing

facility and related improvements known as Elan Huntington Beach and the costs of issuance of the Series 2021A

Bonds.

Concurrently with the issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds, the Agency directly issued Subordinate Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021B (Series 2021B Bonds) in the amount of $5,000,000 to Catalyst Housing

Group LLC, a California limited liability company (Catalyst) in exchange for the sale and assignment of certain

assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to Elan Huntington Beach, a business plan and certain

intellectual property created by Catalyst.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

The bonds are summarized as follows:

Obligations

Original

Amount

Interest

Rate

Final

Maturity

Date

Balance

Outstanding

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series

2021A-1 $ 100,500,000 %3.00 August 1, 2056 $ 100,500,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series

2021A-2 49,795,000 %4.00 August 1, 2047 47,985,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series

2021B 5,000,000 %8.00 August 1, 2061 5,000,000

Activity for the bonds was as follows for the year ended June 30, 2024:

Obligations

Balance

June 30, 2023 Additions Reductions

Balance

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-1 $ 100,500,000 $ - $ - $ 100,500,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-2 49,795,000 - (1,810,000) 47,985,000

Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds,

Series 2021B 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000

Unamortized Bond Premium 6,911,938 - (151,186) 6,760,752

Totals $ 162,206,938 $ - $ (1,961,186) $ 160,245,752
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

Interest payments on the bonds are due semi-annually (February 1st and August 1st) commencing February 1,

2022. Principal payments are not to be made on any bond unless and until such bond is tendered to the Trustee

for cancellation; however partial payments may be made from time to time at the election of ownership. $5,000

of the outstanding principal balance is classified as a current liability and the remaining $160,240,752 is classified

as a long-term liability as of June 30, 2024.

The bonds require the Project to maintain a DSCR, as defined in the agreement, of 1.10:1.00, measured on an

annual basis. If the DSCR calculated is not equal to or greater than 1.10:1.00, the Agency will cause the Project

Administrator to select and appoint, a Housing Consultant to make written recommendations regarding the fees,

rentals, rates and charges imposed and collected by or on behalf of the Project Administrator and transferred to

the Trustee, in connection with the operation of the Project, and regarding improvements or changes in the

operations or management of or the services rendered by the Project Administrator; provided, however, that in

the event that a Housing Consultant shall deliver a report to the Project Administrator, the Agency and the

Trustee stating that state or federal laws or regulations or administrative interpretations of such laws or

regulations then in existence do not permit, or by their application make it impracticable for the Project

Administrator to conduct its business so as to maintain the DSCR at a level sufficient to meet the debt service

coverage requirement, then the debt service coverage requirement shall be reduced to the highest practicable

ratio permitted by the laws or regulations then in effect but in no event less than 1.00:1.00.  

The Project's principal and interest payments are flexible based on cash flows from the Project. Based on

management projections at the time of underwriting, the amortization schedule is as follows:

Year Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 5,000 $ 5,375,800 $ 5,380,800

2026 140,000 5,374,600 5,514,600

2027 315,000 5,367,300 5,682,300

2028 220,000 5,353,000 5,573,000

2029 675,000 5,342,800 6,017,800

2030-2034 10,800,000 25,481,100 36,281,100

2035-2039 14,740,000 23,210,500 37,950,500

2040-2044 26,005,000 19,405,000 45,410,000

2045-2049 37,395,000 14,010,275 51,405,275

2050-2054 52,380,000 7,440,800 59,820,800

2055-2059 5,810,000 2,087,150 7,897,150

2060-2061 5,000,000 1,000,000 6,000,000

Totals $ 153,485,000 $ 119,448,325 $ 272,933,325
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

Long-term pledged revenues as of June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Type of Pledged Revenue

Fiscal Year

Maturity Date

Pledged

Revenue to

Maturity

Debt Principal

& Interest 

Expense for 

the Year

Ended 2024

2024

Pledged

Revenue

Available

Net Rental Revenue:

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A 2056 $ 252,933,325 $ 6,603,648 $ 678,040

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 B 2061 20,000,000 400,000 400,000

Totals $ 272,933,325 $ 7,003,648 $ 1,078,040

Note 7: Related Party Transactions

The Agency signed a Project Administration Agreement (PAA) with a third-party Administrator, Catalyst, on

August 1, 2021, for the Project that establishes the terms and conditions upon which the third-party

Administrator shall, as an independent contractor, monitor, supervise, coordinate, analyze and report to the

Agency with respect to the project and the project Manager’s performance under the PAA. The PAA renews

automatically on its anniversary date unless terminated as a result of circumstances as defined by the PAA.

Project administration fees incurred and paid to the project Administrator under the PAA during the year ended

through June 30, 2024, were $250,000. All project administration fees were paid by June 30, 2024, as such, there

was no accrued expense at June 30, 2024.

The Agency also signed a Property Management Agreement (PMA) with a third-party property Manager,

Greystar, on August 1, 2021, for the project that establishes the terms and conditions for the operation and

maintenance of the project including preparing annual operating budgets, marketing and leasing the project,

collecting rents, managing the payment of operating expenses for the project, maintenance and repair of the

project and management of on-site employees. The PMA renews automatically on its anniversary date unless

terminated as a result of circumstances as defined by the PMA. The property management fees are the greater of

2.50% of gross operating revenue or $12,600 per month. Property management fees and reimbursable expenses

incurred for the year ended June 30, 2024, were $207,493 and $613,565. Accrued property management fees at

June 30, 2024, were $17,648.

Under terms of the Indenture, the Project must pay the Agency an annual administrative fee of $150,000 payable

each August 1, commencing August 1, 2022.  Annual administrative fees prepaid as of June 30, 2024, were

$26,667.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 7: Related Party Transactions (Continued)

The Project is subject to a Public Benefit Agreement, which the Agency signed with the City of Huntington Beach

(City), and is dated as of August 1, 2021. Pursuant to the Public Benefit Agreement, commencing 15 years after

the date of issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds (the sale right exercise date or August 1, 2036), and for a period

of time thereafter terminating on the date that is the earlier of 14 years from the sale right exercise date, or the

date on which there is no debt outstanding, the City shall have the right to cause the Agency to sell all of the

Agency’s right, title and interest, including the fee simple title to the real property, in and to all property and

assets used in or related to the project to the City or the City’s designee, at a sales price at least equal to the sum

of an amount sufficient to prepay any debt secured by the project and any expenses associated with effecting the

sale.

Note 8: Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Agency occasionally becomes involved in legal proceedings relating to

contracts, environmental issues, or other matters. While any proceeding or litigation has an element of

uncertainty, management of the Agency believes that the outcome of any pending or threatened actions, will not

have a material adverse effect on the business or financial condition of the Agency. It is at least reasonably

possible that within the near term an outcome pertaining to these matters could differ from management’s

estimates, and the resulting change could be material to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 9: Leases

The Project enters into lease agreements for each housing unit with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms

are one year or less. Occasionally, a few lease agreements are leased with terms exceeding twelve months. Each

lease agreement entered does not grant lease renewal options.

The lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Payments due under the lease contracts include fixed payments.

The lease receivable is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease fixed payments over twelve

months, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the

Project's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease receivable associated to these lease agreements

comprise of only fixed payments.

The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured at the commencement of the lease term. This is equal to

the amount of the lease receivable plus any lease payments related to future periods, less any lease incentives

paid to, or on behalf of, the lessee at or before the commencement of the lease term. As of June 30, 2024, the

deferred inflow of resources was $282,024, which includes $35,314 of deferred revenue.

As lease payments are received, the lease receivable will be reduced, and the deferred inflow of resources will be

recognized as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 9: Leases (Continued)

Maturities of lease receivables are as follows as of June 30, 2024:

Total Lease

Payments

Amounts

Representing

Interest

Present Value

of Lease

Payments

2025 $ 257,481 $ 12,492 $ 244,989

2026 1,809 88 1,721

Totals $ 259,290 $ 12,580 $ 246,710
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Agency Elan Huntington Beach Eliminations Consolidated

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 169,900$             545,732$                          -$                    715,632$           

Restricted cash - 288,348 - 288,348

Restricted investments - 13,903,738 - 13,903,738

Tenant accounts receivable, net - 14,525 - 14,525

Lease receivables, current portion - 244,989 - 244,989

Prepaid expenses and other assets - 59,845 (26,667) 33,178

Total current assets 169,900 15,057,177 (26,667) 15,200,410

Lease receivables, net of current portion - 1,721 - 1,721

Capital assets, net - 135,618,647 - 135,618,647

Leasing commissions, net - 50,144 - 50,144

Total assets 169,900$             150,727,689$                  (26,667)$            150,870,922$   

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable -$                      360,585$                          -$                    360,585$           

Accrued expenses - 72,372 - 72,372

Accrued interest - 2,222,667 - 2,222,667

Security deposits - 287,867 - 287,867

Current portion of bonds payable - 5,000 - 5,000

Total current liabilities - 2,948,491 - 2,948,491

Long-term bonds payable, net - 160,240,752 - 160,240,752

Total liabilities - 163,189,243 - 163,189,243

Deferred inflow of resources 26,667 282,024 (26,667) 282,024

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets - (26,849,772) - (26,849,772)

Restricted for debt service and other purposes - 14,191,605 - 14,191,605

Unrestricted 143,233 (85,411) - 57,822

Total net position (deficit) 143,233 (12,743,578) - (12,600,345)

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, and net position 169,900$             150,727,689$                  (26,667)$            150,870,922$   

See Independent Auditor's Report.

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII

Consolidating Statement of Net Position

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Net Position

Assets

As of June 30, 2024
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Agency Elan Huntington Beach Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenues:

Rental income -$                     7,670,846$                      -$                     7,670,846$         

Other income 123,333 589,130 (123,333) 589,130

Total operating revenues 123,333 8,259,976 (123,333) 8,259,976

Operating expenses:

Advertising - 36,820 - 36,820

Depreciation and amortization - 4,119,352 - 4,119,352

General and administrative 101,329 190,698 (123,333) 168,694

Insurance 100 188,154 - 188,254

Other - 207,760 - 207,760

Property management fees - 207,493 - 207,493

Project administration fees - 250,000 - 250,000

Repairs and maintenance - 458,100 - 458,100

Salaries and benefits - 451,936 - 451,936

Utilities - 529,888 - 529,888

Total operating expenses 101,429 6,640,201 (123,333) 6,618,297

Net operating income 21,904 1,619,775 - 1,641,679

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Interest expense - (5,193,648) - (5,193,648)

Interest income - 414,137 - 414,137

Total nonoperating expense - (4,779,511) - (4,779,511)

Change in net position (deficit) 21,904 (3,159,736) - (3,137,832)

Net position (deficit) at June 30, 2023 121,329 (9,583,842) - (9,462,513)

Net position (deficit) at June 30, 2024 143,233$            (12,743,578)$                  -$                     (12,600,345)$     

See Independent Auditor's Report. 

Consolidating Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position
Year Ended June 30, 2024

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII
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Agency Elan Huntington Beach Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers 150,000$             8,354,966$                   -$                 8,504,966$              

Cash paid to suppliers and service providers (101,429) (2,849,272) - (2,950,701)

Net cash flows from operating activities 48,571 5,505,694 - 5,554,265

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities: 

Purchases of capital assets - (1,922,045) - (1,922,045)

Payments for lease commissions - (50,406) - (50,406)

Principal payments on bonds - (1,810,000) - (1,810,000)

Interest payments on bonds - (5,375,000) - (5,375,000)

- (9,157,451) - (9,157,451)

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Net change in restricted investments - 3,068,094 - 3,068,094

Interest income - 414,137 - 414,137

Net cash flows from investing activities - 3,482,231 - 3,482,231

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 48,571 (169,526) - (120,955)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of year 121,329 1,003,606 - 1,124,935

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year 169,900$             834,080$                       -$                 1,003,980$              

See Independent Auditor's Report.

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII

Net cash flows from financing activities

Year Ended June 30, 2024
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Agency Elan Huntington Beach Eliminations Consolidated

Net operating income 21,904$               1,619,775$                   -$                 1,641,679$              

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net cash flows

from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization - 4,119,352 - 4,119,352

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Tenant accounts receivable - 53,248 - 53,248

Prepaid expenses and other assets - 81,585 26,667 108,252

Lease receivable - (246,710) - (246,710)

Accounts payable - 81,739 - 81,739

Accrued expenses - (491,747) - (491,747)

Deferred inflow of resources 26,667 265,994 (26,667) 265,994

Security deposits - 22,458 - 22,458

Total adjustments 26,667 3,885,919 - 3,912,586

Net cash flows from operating activities 48,571$               5,505,694$                   -$                 5,554,265$              

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:

Cash and cash equivalents 169,900$             545,732$                       -$                 715,632$                 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:

Tenant security deposit funds - 287,867 - 287,867

Restricted cash and cash equivalents in accordance with bond indenture - 481 - 481

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 169,900$             834,080$                       -$                 1,003,980$              

Supplemental cash flow information:

Noncash financing activities:

Amortization of bond premium -$                      (151,186)$                     -$                 (151,186)$                

Accrued interest - 30,166 - 30,166

See Independent Auditor's Report.

Year Ended June 30, 2024

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
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Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Directors

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII

Carlsbad, California

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements  of Elan Huntington Beach, a division of the CMFA Special

Finance Agency VIII, which comprise the statement of net position as of June 30, 2024, and the related statements

of revenues, expenses, and change in net position, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes

to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of Elan Huntington Beach as of June 30, 2024, and the changes in net position and cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (''GAAP'').

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America

("GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the

Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Elan Huntington

Beach and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating

to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance

with GAAP, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation

and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Elan Huntington Beach's ability to continue

as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our

opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in

the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

% Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

% Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

% Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of Elan Huntington Beach’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

% Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

% Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise

substantial doubt about Elan Huntington Beach's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable

period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters that

we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that a management's discussion

and analysis and the budgetary comparison information presented to supplement the financial statements. Such

information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the financial statements, is required

by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) who considers it to be an essential part of financial

reporting for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We

have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing

standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about

the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's

responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the

financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the

limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Wipfli LLP

Radnor, Pennsylvania

October 23, 2024
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4--)+e

E&-8 $$$$$$$$$$$$$$jQjCaNP$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$jQNCVOj$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$PCcPa$

^)-+@/0+)3$0&-8 $$$$$$$$$VQCVbPCOdc$ $$$$$$$$$$$VaCQNPCNNN$ $$$$$$>NCPQOCPQaB

k+8)@$01@@)'+$&--)+- $$$$$$$$$$$$$$NVbCNjb$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$PObCPON$ $$$$$$$$$$VVOCVjc$

k+8)@$&--)+- $$$$$$$VNjCcaOCjVP$ $$$$$$$$$VNaCdVjCcbP$ $$$$$$>PCVQjCVdOB

Total assets     150,727,689       156,000,333    (5,272,644)

l/&S/5/+/)-e

E1@@)'+$5/&S/5/+/)- $$$$$$$$$$$PCbQdCQbV$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$NCNaaCPNa$ $$$$$$$$$>QPdCaQcB

l2'(]+)@*$3)S+ $$$$$$$VcOCPQOCajP$ $$$$$$$$$VcPCPOcCbNd$ $$$$$$>VCbccCVdcB

Total liabilities     163,189,243       165,584,175     (2,394,932)

.):)@@)3$/':52T$2:$@)-21@0)- $$$$$$$$$$$$$$PdPCOPQ$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$]$$$ $$$$$$$$$PdPCOPQ

Net position (deficit)      (12,743,578)          (9,583,842)    (3,159,736)
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(A division of the CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII)
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ASSETS

Restricted Cash and Investments
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NET POSITION
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+8)$6)&@-$)'3)3$M1')$NOC$POPQC &'3$POPNR$

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position

2024 2023 Change

^)D)'1)-

$$$$$$$$$$$

dCPjbCbac$

$$$$$$$$$$$$$

aCbdcCPOc$

$$$$$$$$$$

PaNCaaO$

kH)@&+/'($)WH)'-)-

$$$$$$$$$$$

cCcQOCPOV$

$$$$$$$$$$$$$

cCabPCjNj$

$$$$$$$$$$

>VjPCNNQB

m2']kH)@&+/'($)WH)'-)-

$$$$$$$$$$$

QCaabCjVV$

$$$$$$$$$$$$$

jCOdaCQNb$

$$$$$$$$$$

>NOaCbPdB

E8&'()$/'$')+$H2-/+/2'

$$$$$$$$$$

>NCVjbCaNcB

$$$$$$$$$$$

>NCdbNCacdB

$$$$$$$$$$

aNQCONP$

m)+$H2-/+/2'$] S)(/''/'($2:$

6)&@

$$$$$$$$$$

>bCjdNCdQPB

$$$$$$$$$$$

>jCcbOCOaQB

$$$$$$

>NCdbNCacdB

m)+$?2-/+/2'$] )'3$2:$6)&@

$$$$$$$$

>VPCaQNCjadB

$$$$$$$$$$$

>bCjdNCdQPB

$$$$$$

>NCVjbCaNcB

LIABILITIES

Long-Term Debt 

=2'3-$H&6&S5) 3)0@)&-)3$/'$F_POPQ$S6 `VCbcVCVdcR$78/-$02*H@/-)-$&$H@/'0/H&5$H&6*)'+ 2'$+8)$-)@/)-$

POPV4$S2'3- 2: `VCdVOCOOO &-$T)55$&- `VjVCVdc &*2@9U&92'$2:$+8)$S2'3$H@)*/1*R

OPERATING REVENUES

kH)@&9'($@)D)'1)-$/'0@)&-)3$2D)@$+8)$H@)D/21- 6)&@$S6$`PaNCaaOR$78/-$T&-$*&/'56$31)$+2 +8)$/'0@)&-)$

/' @)'+&5$@&+)$&'3$-1-+&/'*)'+$2: 2001H&'06$:2@$+8)$H)@/23R$78)$/'0@)&-)$/'$@)-/3)'9&5$/'02*)$T&-$31)$

+2 @)'+$/'0@)&-)-R
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Operating Revenues: 2024 2023 Change 
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OPERATING EXPENSES

kH)@&9'($)WH)'-)-$3)0@)&-)3$:@2*$`cCabPCjNj /'$F_POPN +2$`cCcQOCPOV /'$F_POPQ n &$3)0@)&-)$2:$
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Elan Huntington Beach
Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2024

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 545,732

Restricted cash 288,348

Restricted investments 13,903,738

Tenants accounts receivable, net 14,525

Lease receivable, current portion 244,989

Prepaid expenses and other assets 59,845

Total current assets 15,057,177

Lease receivable, net of current portion 1,721

Capital assets, net 135,618,647

Leasing commissions, net 50,144

Total assets $ 150,727,689

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Net Position

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 360,585

Accrued expenses 72,372

Accrued interest 2,222,667

Security deposits 287,867

Current portion of bonds payable 5,000

Total current liabilities 2,948,491

Bonds payable 160,240,752

Total liabilities 163,189,243

Deferred inflow of resources 282,024

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets (26,849,772)

Restricted for debt service and other purposes 14,191,605

Unrestricted (85,411)

Total net position (deficit) (12,743,578)

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, and net position $ 150,727,689

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Operating revenues:

Rental income $ 7,670,846

Other income 589,130

Total operating revenues 8,259,976

Operating expenses

Advertising 36,820

Depreciation and amortization 4,119,352

General and administrative 190,698

Insurance 188,154

Other 207,760

Property management fees 207,493

Project administration fees 250,000

Repairs and maintenance 458,100

Salaries and benefits 451,936

Utilities 529,888

Total operating expenses 6,640,201

Income from operations 1,619,775

Nonoperating income (expense):

Interest expense (5,193,648)

Interest income 414,137

Change in net position (3,159,736)

Net deficit at June 30, 2023 (9,583,842)

Net deficit at June 30, 2024 $ (12,743,578)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 8,354,966

Cash paid to suppliers and service providers (2,849,272)

Net cash flows from operating activities 5,505,694

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Purchases of capital assets (1,922,045)

Payments for lease commissions (50,406)

Principal payments on bonds (1,810,000)

Interest payments on bonds (5,375,000)

Net cash flows from capital and financing activities (9,157,451)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Net change in restricted investments 3,068,094

Interest income 414,137

Net cash flows from investing activities 3,482,231

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (169,526)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of year 1,003,606

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year $ 834,080

Net operating income $ 1,619,775

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 4,119,352

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Tenant accounts receivable 53,248

Prepaid expenses 81,585

Lease receivables (246,710)

Accounts payable 81,739

Accrued expenses (491,747)

Deferred inflow of resources 265,994

Security deposits 22,458

Total adjustments 3,885,919

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 5,505,694

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 545,732

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Tenant security deposits 287,867

Deposits with a fiscal agent 481

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 834,080

Supplemental cash flow information:

Noncash financing activities:

Amortization of bond premium $ (151,186)

Accrued interest 30,166

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1: Organization, Operations and Reporting Entity

The CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII (the Agency) was organized on July 1, 2021, under the provisions of the

Joint Exercise of Powers Act (Act) of the Government Code of the State of California. The Agency is a joint exercise

of powers authority and public entity formed pursuant to a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (Agreement)

between the California Municipal Finance Authority (the Authority) and the City of Huntington Beach, California as

charter members, to which certain other cities and counties may in the future join as additional members. The

Agency is authorized and empowered under the Act and the Agreement to issue bonds to undertake the financing

and/or refinancing of any purpose or activity permitted under the Act or any other law, including projects that

provide affordable local housing for low-income, median-income and moderate-income families and individuals.

The Agency is governed by the Board of Directors consisting of, ex officio, the board of directors of the Authority.

Elan Huntington Beach, Huntington Beach, California (Elan)

On August 31, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-1 (Senior Bonds), Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-2 (Junior Bonds) and Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series

2021B (Series 2021B Bonds). The Series 2021B Bonds were directly issued to, or at the direction of, Catalyst

Housing Group LLC (Catalyst), a California limited liability company, in exchange for the sale and assignment of

certain assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to the project, a business plan for the Agency, and

certain intellectual property created by Catalyst for the Agency. The bonds, with an aggregate principal amount of

$155,295,000, were issued to finance the acquisition of a 274- unit multifamily residential rental community that

also contains approximately 7,923 square feet of ground floor retail space and related improvements, personal

property and equipment known as Elan Huntington Beach located at 18504 Beach Boulevard, Huntington Beach,

California (the Project).

The accompanying financial statements of Elan Huntington Beach are intended to present the financial position,

changes in financial position and cash flows, of only that portion of the business-type activities of the Agency that

are attributable to the transactions of Elan Huntington Beach. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly

the financial position of the Agency as of June 30, 2024, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows for

the year then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

(GAAP).

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Project's financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with

GAAP as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Under the accrual basis, revenues are

recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred, regardless of the

timing of the cash flows.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ

from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible to cash and

have remaining maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition.  

Restricted Cash and Investments and Investment Income

Restricted cash and investments represent the unspent proceeds of the Bonds that are held by the Trustee. These

investments are made up of various funds that were required to be funded by the Indenture. Also included in

restricted cash are tenant security deposit funds. See Note 3 for a listing of the funds held by the Trustee.

Restricted investments are made up of money market funds and guaranteed investment contracts. The

guaranteed investment contracts are considered trading securities, therefore are measured at fair value.

All investment income is reported as nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the accompanying statement of

revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. Realized gains or losses are determined by specific identification.

Tenant Accounts Receivable

Tenant accounts receivable are uncollateralized residential rents, which are due at the beginning of each month.

Payments of tenant receivables are allocated to the specific charges identified on the tenant’s remittance or, if

unspecified, are applied to past due balances first, then the current unpaid charges. Management individually

reviews all tenant receivables and based on an assessment of current creditworthiness, estimates the portion, if

any, of the balance that could be uncollectible. Any amounts that remain outstanding after management has used

reasonable collection efforts are deemed uncollectible and written-off through a charge to the valuation

allowance and elimination of the tenant accounts receivable. Management has recorded an allowance for

doubtful accounts of $1,833 as of June 30, 2024.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-tier hierarchy prioritizes the inputs

used in measuring fair value. These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted market

prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that are

either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market

data exists, therefore, requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions. The asset's or liability's fair value

measurement within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value

measurement.

Tenant Security Deposit Funds

Tenant security deposits represent tenant deposits held in accordance with the respective tenant's lease

agreement which are held in trust for the tenants until they vacate the property. Any amounts not returned to the

tenant due to lease violations are transferred to the Project's general operating account.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are defined by the Agency as assets with an initial, individual cost of $1,000 or more and an

estimated useful life of more than one year. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical

cost, if actual cost is not available, and when placed in service. Capital assets are depreciated on a straight-line

basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets (3 - 30 years). Depreciation of capital assets is recorded as an

expense against operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Management reviews the recoverability of its capital assets in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement

No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. GASB

Statement No. 42 requires the recognition of impairment of capital assets in the event an asset's service utility has

declined significantly and unexpectedly. Accordingly, management evaluates its assets' utility annually or when an

event occurs that may impair recoverability of the asset.

Long-Lived Assets

The Project reviews their long-lived assets periodically to determine potential impairment by comparing the

carrying value of those assets with the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use

of the assets, including cash flows from disposition. Should the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash

flows be less than the carrying value, the Project would recognize an impairment loss at that time. No impairment

loss was recognized in the fiscal year 2024.

Leasing Commissions

Leasing commissions have been capitalized and are amortized over the related lease term using the straight-line

method.  Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $261.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section of deferred outflows

of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a

consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of

resources (expense) until then. At this time, the Project has no items that are reported in this category.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred

inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents the

acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources

(revenue) until that time.

Original Issue Premium

Original issue premium represents the difference between the face value of the bonds and the consideration

received. Original issue premium is deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line

method. Amortization of the premium is reflected as a decrease to interest expense in the statement of revenues,

expenses, and change in net position.

Net Position

Net position of the Project is classified in three components:

Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, including bond proceeds held for capital assets, net of

accumulated depreciation and reduced by any outstanding borrowings used to finance the purchase or

construction of those assets.

Restricted for debt service and other purposes is net position that is restricted for the future payment of debt and

is required to be held under an agreement with the Trustee, as well as other funds included in restricted

investments.

Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position that does not meet the definition of net investment in

capital assets or restricted for debt service and other purposes.

Income Taxes

As an essential government function of the Agency, the Project is generally exempt from federal and state income

taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code and a similar provision of state law.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.  Advertising costs expensed during the year ended June 30, 2024 were

$36,820.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue Recognition

Housing units are rented under operating lease agreements with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms are

one year or less.  Rent income is recognized in the month in which it is earned rather than received.

GASB 87 Lease Accounting

The Project is a lessor in multiple housing units lease agreements. The Project accounts for its leases in accordance

with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB"), Statement No. 87, Leases. If the contract provides

the right to substantially all the economic benefits and the right to direct the use of the identified asset, it is

considered to be or contain a lease. Lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources are recognized at the lease

commencement date based on the present value of the future lease payments over the expected lease term. The

deferred inflow of resources is also adjusted for any lease prepayments made, lease incentives received, and

initial direct costs incurred. See Note 9 for leases.

The Project uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Project has elected to not recognize lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources for short-term leases

that have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease commencement and do not include an option to renew the

lease agreement. Leases containing termination clauses in which either party may terminate the lease without

cause and the notice period is less than 12 months are deemed short-term leases. The Project recognizes short-

term lease income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Subsequent Events 

The Project has evaluated subsequent events through October 23, 2024, which is the date the financial

statements were available to be issued.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments

The Project's restricted cash and investments are subject to several types of risk:

Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that the changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value

of an investment.  The Project does not have a formal investment policy for interest rate risk.  

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that the issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its

obligations.  At June 30, 2024, the Project’s investments were not rated.

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Project's deposits may

not be returned to it.  The Project does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk.  The Project's deposits

are held with the Trustee and are fully insured.

Although not part of the Indenture, included in restricted cash and cash equivalents are tenant security deposits

of $287,867 as of  June 30, 2024.  As such, this amount is not included in the table below summarizing restricted

cash and investments by fund.  

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Project was required to establish certain restricted reserves with bond proceeds

that were funded at closing for the bond issuance.  All reserve accounts are restricted for specific use and

withdrawals from the restricted accounts are subject to approval by the Trustee. 

The following table provides a summary of restricted investments by fund as required by the Indenture:

Fund/Account Name 2024

Revenue fund $ 696,828

Operating Reserve fund 448,493

Administrative Expenses fund 163,637

Excess Revenue fund 3,002

Extraordinary Expense fund 500,000

Project Acquisition fund 41,924

Environmental Assurance fund 44,009

Capital Reserve fund 1,186,580

Senior Debt Service account 1,210,997

Senior Debt Service Reserve fund 3,015,000

Junior Debt Service account 770,941

Junior Debt Service Reserve fund 1,991,800

Subordinate Debt Service fund 3,830,527

Total $ 13,903,738
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Revenue Fund

Pursuant to the Project Administration Agreement (Note 7), at the end of each month, the operator is required to

transfer all monies into the revenue fund held by the Trustee as soon as practicable as long as any bonds remain

outstanding.

Operating Reserve Fund

The operating reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account. If at any time the

amount on deposit in the operating reserve fund exceeds the operating reserve requirement, amounts in excess

of the operating reserve requirement shall be deposited into the revenue fund.  As of June 30, 2024, the deposits

on hand in the operating reserve fund met the operating reserve requirement of $448,493.

Administrative Expenses Fund

The administrative expenses fund shall be used only for the purpose of paying administrative expenses.  In the

event the amount in the administrative expenses fund is insufficient to pay the administrative expenses, the

trustee shall apply amounts in the operating reserve fund for the payment of administrative expenses.

Excess Revenue Fund

Excess revenue fund shall be applied first to the revenue fund to satisfy any insufficiency of payments required

pursuant to flow of funds, and then to the redemption of bonds.  On the first date upon which no bonds remain

outstanding, any and all monies in the excess revenue fund shall be transferred by the Trustee to the project

jurisdiction.

Extraordinary Expense Fund

The extraordinary expense fund is used to pay for extraordinary expenses, as approved by the Agency  and

processed by the Trustee.  The Trustee will disburse monies from the extraordinary expense fund to the Agency

for certain expenses meeting the extraordinary definition in the Indenture.  After discharge of the Indenture, the

Agency shall retain any monies in the extraordinary expense fund, unless a different arrangement is agreed to at

the Agency's discretion.  As of June 30, 2024, the deposits on hand in the coverage reserve fund met the coverage

reserve deposit requirement of $500,000.

Project Acquisition Fund

The project acquisition fund is used to pay the amounts required by the provision of the Indenture Agreement and

make disbursements of amounts in accordance with a request of the project administrator for the purposes of

paying a portion of the purchase price of the Project.
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Environmental Financial Assurance Fund

The environment financial assurance fund shall be used solely for the purposes of satisfying the financial

assurance mechanism pursuant to the bond indenture.

Capital Reserve Fund

The capital reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account.  The monies in this

account shall be used for the purposes of paying for capital expenses included in the capital budget or otherwise

expressly authorized by the project administration agreement and capital expenses not included in the capital

budget with the prior written consent of the Authority.

Senior Debt Service Account

The senior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the series 2021 A1

bonds, the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before

each principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date.

Senior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The senior debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service subaccount of the

debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the senior debt service reserve fund met the

requirement outlined in the trust indenture.

Junior Debt Service Account

The junior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the series 2021 A2

bonds, the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before

each principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date. 

Junior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The subordinate debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the junior debt service subaccount of

the debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the senior debt service reserve fund met the

requirement outlined in the trust indenture.

Subordinate Debt Service Account

The subordinate debt service account is used to fund any interest that is due and payable on the next ensuing

interest payment on each series of outstanding subordinate bonds.  
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Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

Quoted market prices are used to determine the fair value of investments in publicly traded equity securities and

exchange traded funds. Certificates of deposit, corporate bonds, and government obligations are valued using

quotes from pricing vendors based on recent trading activity and other observable market data.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable

value or reflective of future fair value. Furthermore, while the Company believes their valuation methods are

appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to

determine the fair value could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Information regarding assets at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2024, is as follows:

                                           Recurring Fair Value Measurements Using 

Investment Type

Total Assets at

Fair Value

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets for

Identical

Assets (Level

1)

Significant

Other

Observable

Inputs (Level

2)

Significant

Observable

Inputs (Level

3)

Money market mutual funds $ 7,948,444 $ 7,948,444 $ - $ -

Guaranteed investment contracts 5,955,294 - 5,955,294 -

Totals $ 13,903,738 $ 7,948,444 $ 5,955,294 $ -

Following is a description of the valuation methodology and significant inputs used for each asset and liability

measured at fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring basis, as well as the classification of the asset or liability

within the fair value hierarchy.

Money market funds - The fair value of money market funds are based on inputs that are observable, such as

quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities and credit risk.

Guaranteed investment contracts - The fair value of guaranteed investment contracts are based on inputs that are

observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities and

credit risk. The interest rates are 1.63%. The contract issuer is contractually obligated to repay the principal and

interest at the specified interest rate that is guaranteed to the investment holder. The investment holder may

withdraw the full principal balance on deposit, terminating the contract, at any time.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 5: Capital Assets

The capital assets balance at June 30, 2024, consists of the following activity:

Balance

June 30, 2023 Additions Deletions

Balance

June 30, 2024

Capital assets not depreciated:

Land $ 27,705,748 $ - $ - $ 27,705,748

Capital assets depreciable:

Building and improvements 117,093,895 1,869,988 - 118,963,883

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 507,725 52,057 - 559,782

Total depreciable capital assets 117,601,620 1,922,045 - 119,523,665

Less accumulated depreciation:

Building and improvements (7,466,091) (4,011,135) - (11,477,226)

Furniture, fixtures and equipment (25,584) (107,956) - (133,540)

Total accumulated depreciation (7,491,675) (4,119,091) - (11,610,766)

Total capital assets, depreciable (net) 110,109,945 (2,197,046) - 107,912,899

Capital assets, net $ 137,815,693 $ (2,197,046) $ - $ 135,618,647

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $4,119,091.

Note 6: Bonds Payable

On August 31, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-1 (Senior Bonds) (Series

2021A-1 Bonds) in the amount of $100,500,000 and Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-2 (Junior

Bonds) (Series 2021A-2 Bonds) in the amount of $49,795,000, collectively, the Series 2021A Bonds. The proceeds

of the Series 2021A Bonds were used for financing the cost of the acquisition of a multifamily rental housing

facility and related improvements known as Elan Huntington Beach and the costs of issuance of the Series 2021A

Bonds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

Concurrently with the issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds, the Agency directly issued Subordinate Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021B (Series 2021B Bonds) in the amount of $5,000,000 to Catalyst Housing

Group LLC (Catalyst), a California limited liability company, in exchange for the sale and assignment of certain

assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to Elan Huntington Beach, a business plan and certain

intellectual property created by Catalyst.

The bonds are summarized as follows:

Bonds

Original

Amount

Interest

Rate

Final

Maturity

Date

Balance

Outstanding

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

A-1 $ 100,500,000 %3.00 August 1, 2056 $ 100,500,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

A-2 49,795,000 %4.00 August 1, 2047 47,985,000

Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds,

Series 2021B 5,000,000 %8.00 August 1, 2061 5,000,000

Activity for the bonds was as follows for the year ended June 30, 2024:

Bonds

Balance

June 30, 2023 Additions Reductions

Balance

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series A-1 $ 100,500,000 $ - $ - $ 100,500,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series A-2 49,795,000 - (1,810,000) 47,985,000

Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds,

Series 2021B 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000

Unamortized Bond Premium 6,911,938 - (151,186) 6,760,752

Totals $ 162,206,938 $ - $ (1,961,186) $ 160,245,752

Interest payments on the bonds are due semi-annually (February 1st and August 1st) commencing February 1,

2022. Principal payments are not to be made on either bond unless and until such bond is tendered to the Trustee

for cancellation; however partial payments may be made from time to time at the election of ownership. $5,000

of the outstanding principal balance is classified as a current liability and the remaining $160,240,752 is classified

as a long-term liability as of June 30, 2024.

20



Elan Huntington Beach
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

The bonds require the Project to maintain a DSCR, as defined in the agreement, of 1.10:1.00, measured on an

annual basis. If the DSCR calculated is not equal to or greater than 1.10:1.00, the Agency will cause the project

administrator to select and appoint, a housing consultant to make written recommendations regarding the fees,

rentals, rates and charges imposed and collected by or on behalf of the project administrator and transferred to

the Trustee, in connection with the operation of the Project, and regarding improvements or changes in the

operations or management of or the services rendered by the project administrator; provided, however, that in

the event that a housing consultant shall deliver a report to the project administrator, the Agency and the Trustee

stating that state or federal laws or regulations or administrative interpretations of such laws or regulations then

in existence do not permit, or by their application make it impracticable for the project administrator to conduct

its business so as to maintain the DSCR at a level sufficient to meet the debt service coverage requirement, then

the debt service coverage requirement shall be reduced to the highest practicable ratio permitted by the laws or

regulations then in effect but in no event less than 1.00:1.00. 

The Agency's principal and interest payments are flexible based on cash flows from the Project. Based on

management projections at the time of underwriting, the amortization schedule is as follows:

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 5,000 $ 5,375,800 $ 5,380,800

2026 140,000 5,374,600 5,514,600

2027 315,000 5,367,300 5,682,300

2028 220,000 5,353,000 5,573,000

2029 675,000 5,342,800 6,017,800

2030-2034 10,800,000 25,481,100 36,281,100

2035-2039 14,740,000 23,210,500 37,950,500

2040-2044 26,005,000 19,405,000 45,410,000

2045-2049 37,395,000 14,010,275 51,405,275

2050-2054 52,380,000 7,440,800 59,820,800

2055-2059 5,810,000 2,087,150 7,897,150

2060-2061 5,000,000 1,000,000 6,000,000

Totals $ 153,485,000 $ 119,448,325 $ 272,933,325
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Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

Long-term pledged revenues as of June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Type of Pledged Revenue

Fiscal Year

Maturity Date

Pledged

Revenue to

Maturity

Debt Principal

& Interest 

Paid During 

the Year

Ended 2024

2024

Pledged

Revenue

Available

Net Rental Revenue:

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A 2056 $ 252,933,325 $ 6,603,648 $ 678,040

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 B 2061 20,000,000 400,000 400,000

Totals $ 272,933,325 $ 7,003,648 $ 1,078,040

Note 7: Related Party Transactions

The Agency signed a Project Administration Agreement (PAA) with a third-party administrator on August 1, 2021,

for the Project that establishes the terms and conditions upon which the third-party administrator shall, as an

independent contractor, monitor, supervise, coordinate, analyze and report to the Agency with respect to the

Project and the project manager’s performance under the PAA. The PAA renews automatically on its anniversary

date unless terminated as a result of circumstances as defined by the PAA. Project administration fees incurred

and paid to the project administrator under the PAA during the year ended through June 30, 2024, were

$250,000. All project administration fees were paid by June 30, 2024, as such, there was no accrued expense at

June 30, 2024.

The Agency also signed a Property Management Agreement (PMA) with a third-party property manager on August

1, 2021, for the project that establishes the terms and conditions for the operation and maintenance of the

project including preparing annual operating budgets, marketing and leasing the project, collecting rents,

managing the payment of operating expenses for the project, maintenance and repair of the project and

management of on-site employees. The PMA renews automatically on its anniversary date unless terminated as a

result of circumstances as defined by the PMA. The property management fees are the greater of 2.50% of gross

operating revenue or $12,600 per month. Property management fees and reimbursable expenses incurred for the

year ended June 30, 2024 were $207,493 and $613,565. Accrued property management fees at June 30, 2024,

were $17,648.

Under terms of the bond indenture, the Project must pay the Agency an annual administrative fee of $150,000

payable each August 1, commencing August 1, 2022.  Annual administrative fees prepaid as of June 30, 2024 were

$26,667.
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Note 7: Related Party Transactions (Continued)

The project is subject to a Public Benefit Agreement, which the Agency signed with the City of Huntington Beach,

California (City), and is dated as of August 1, 2021. Pursuant to the Public Benefit Agreement, commencing 15

years after the date of issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds (the sale right exercise date or August 1, 2036), and for

a period of time thereafter terminating on the date that is the earlier of 14 years from the sale right exercise date,

or the date on which there is no debt outstanding, the City shall have the right to cause the Agency to sell all of

the Agency’s right, title and interest, including the fee simple title to the real property, in and to all property and

assets used in or related to the project to the City or the City’s designee, at a sales price at least equal to the sum

of an amount sufficient to prepay any debt secured by the project and any expenses associated with effecting the

sale.

Note 8: Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Agency occasionally becomes involved in legal proceedings relating to

contracts, environmental issues, or other matters. While any proceeding or litigation has an element of

uncertainty, management of the Agency believes that the outcome of any pending or threatened actions,

including the matters referred to below, will not have a material adverse effect on the business or financial

condition of the Agency. It is at least reasonably possible that within the near term an outcome pertaining to

these matters could differ from management’s estimates, and the resulting change could be material to the

financial statements.

Note 9: Leases

The Project enters into lease agreements for each housing unit with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms

are one year or less. Occasionally, a few lease agreements are leased with terms exceeding twelve months. Each

lease agreement entered does not grant lease renewal options.

The lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Payments due under the lease contracts include fixed payments.

The lease receivable is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease fixed payments over the

lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the

Project's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease receivable associated to these lease agreements

comprise of only fixed payments.

The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured at the commencement of the lease term. This is equal to the

amount of the lease receivable plus any lease payments related to future periods, less any lease incentives paid

to, or on behalf of, the lessee at or before the commencement of the lease term. As of June 30, 2024, the deferred

inflow of resources was $282,024.

As lease payments are received, the lease receivable will be reduced, and the deferred inflow of resources will be

recognized as revenue.
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Note 9: Leases (Continued)

Maturities of lease receivables are as follows as of June 30, 2024:

Total Lease

Payments

 Amounts

Representing

Interest

Present Value

of Lease

Payments

2025 $ 257,481 $ 12,492 $ 244,989

2026 1,809 88 1,721

Totals $ 259,290 $ 12,580 $ 246,710
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OCCUPANCY REPORT



Elan Huntington Beach Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Income Restriction Category Units % of Total
Low Income (80% AMI) 109 40%
Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units) 25 9%
Moderate Income (120% AMI) 53 19%
Non-Program 68 25%
Vacant* 19 7%
Grand Total 274 100%
*includes model units

Unit # AMI Designation
A-100 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-102 Vacant
A-104 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-106 Non-Program
A-108 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-110 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-112 Non-Program
A-114 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-116 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-118 Non-Program
A-200 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-202 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-204 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-205 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-207 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-209 Non-Program
A-211 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-213 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-215 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-217 Non-Program
A-218 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-220 Non-Program
A-222 Non-Program
A-223 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-225 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-226 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-227 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-228 Non-Program
A-229 Non-Program
A-230 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-231 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-232 Low Income (80% AMI)



Elan Huntington Beach Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit # AMI Designation
A-234 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-235 Non-Program
A-236 Non-Program
A-237 Non-Program
A-238 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-239 Non-Program
A-240 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-241 Vacant
A-242 Non-Program
A-243 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-245 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-247 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-249 Vacant
A-255 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-256 Non-Program
A-257 Non-Program
A-258 Vacant
A-259 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-261 Non-Program
A-262 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-300 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-302 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-304 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-305 Vacant
A-306 Vacant
A-307 Vacant
A-308 Non-Program
A-309 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-310 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-311 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-312 Non-Program
A-313 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-314 Non-Program
A-315 Non-Program
A-316 Non-Program
A-317 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-318 Non-Program
A-320 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-322 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-323 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-325 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-326 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-327 Low Income (80% AMI)



Elan Huntington Beach Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit # AMI Designation
A-328 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-329 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-330 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-331 Non-Program
A-332 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-334 Non-Program
A-335 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-336 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-337 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-338 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-339 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-340 Non-Program
A-341 Non-Program
A-342 Non-Program
A-343 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-344 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-345 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-346 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-347 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-349 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-351 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-353 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-355 Vacant
A-356 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-357 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-358 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-359 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-361 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-362 Vacant
A-400 Non-Program
A-402 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-404 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-405 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-406 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-407 Non-Program
A-408 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-409 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-410 Non-Program
A-411 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-412 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-413 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-414 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-415 Low Income (80% AMI)



Elan Huntington Beach Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit # AMI Designation
A-416 Non-Program
A-417 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-418 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-420 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-422 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-423 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-425 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-426 Non-Program
A-427 Non-Program
A-428 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-429 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-430 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-431 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-432 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-434 Non-Program
A-435 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-436 Vacant
A-437 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-438 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-439 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-440 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-441 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-442 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-443 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-444 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-445 Non-Program
A-446 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-447 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-449 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-450 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-451 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-453 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-454 Non-Program
A-455 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-456 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-457 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-458 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-459 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-461 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-462 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-500 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-502 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-504 Low Income (80% AMI)



Elan Huntington Beach Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit # AMI Designation
A-505 Non-Program
A-506 Non-Program
A-507 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-508 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-509 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-510 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-511 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-512 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-513 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-514 Non-Program
A-515 Non-Program
A-516 Non-Program
A-517 Non-Program
A-518 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-523 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-525 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-526 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-527 Non-Program
A-528 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-529 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-530 Non-Program
A-531 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-532 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-534 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-535 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-536 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-537 Non-Program
A-538 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-539 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-540 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-541 Non-Program
A-542 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-543 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-544 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-545 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-546 Non-Program
A-547 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-549 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-550 Non-Program
A-551 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-553 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-554 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-555 Non-Program



Elan Huntington Beach Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit # AMI Designation
A-556 Non-Program
A-557 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-558 Non-Program
A-559 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-561 Non-Program
A-562 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-600 Vacant
A-602 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-604 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-605 Vacant
A-606 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-607 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-609 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-611 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-613 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-615 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-617 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-623 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-625 Non-Program
A-626 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-627 Non-Program
A-628 Non-Program
A-629 Non-Program
A-630 Vacant
A-631 Vacant
A-632 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-634 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-635 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-636 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-637 Non-Program
A-638 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-639 Non-Program
A-640 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-641 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-642 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-643 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-644 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-645 Vacant
A-646 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-647 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-649 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
A-650 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-651 Low Income (80% AMI)



Elan Huntington Beach Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit # AMI Designation
A-653 Vacant
A-654 Non-Program
A-655 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-656 Non-Program
A-657 Non-Program
A-658 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-659 Low Income (80% AMI)
A-661 Median Income (110% AMI BMR Units)
A-662 Vacant
B-200 Non-Program
B-202 Low Income (80% AMI)
B-204 Non-Program
B-206 Low Income (80% AMI)
B-208 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
B-210 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
B-300 Non-Program
B-302 Low Income (80% AMI)
B-304 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
B-306 Non-Program
B-308 Vacant
B-310 Vacant
B-400 Non-Program
B-402 Low Income (80% AMI)
B-404 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
B-406 Low Income (80% AMI)
B-408 Low Income (80% AMI)
B-410 Non-Program

In 2024, the Project Administrator has been investing in upgraded 
reporting infrastructure. With our new capabilities, we look 
forward to working with our stakeholders to implement 
enhancements in our reporting packages.



APPENDIX D 
CERTIFICATE OF THE DISCLOSURE REPRESENTATIVE

I, John Stoecker, of the CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII (the “Disclosure Representative”) hereby certify 
that the Agency has observed and performed all of its covenants and agreements set forth in the Indenture and the 
other Bond Documents, and no Event of Default (as defined in the Bond Documents) has occurred or exists.   

CMFA Special Finance Agency VIII, as Disclosure Representative 

By:______________________ 
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I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated August 19, 2021 (the “Disclosure Agreement”), the CMFA 
Special Finance Agency VII (the “Agency”) hereby provides its continuing disclosure annual report for the fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2024 (the “Continuing Disclosure Annual Report”) in connection with the Agency’s Senior Essential 
Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and Junior Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-2 (The 
Breakwater Apartments) (collectively, the “Bonds”). 

Each maturity of the Bonds is identified by the corresponding CUSIP Number set forth below.  The CUSIP numbers 
below are provided for the convenience of Bondholders.  The Agency is not responsible for the accuracy or 
completeness of such numbers. 

Series Maturity Date CUSIP 

2021A-1 August 1, 2056 12574UAA2 
2021A-2 August 1, 2047 12574UAC8 

Other Matters:  This Continuing Disclosure Annual Report is provided solely pursuant to the Disclosure Agreement.  
The filing of this Continuing Disclosure Annual Report does not constitute or imply any representation (i) that all of 
the information provided is material to investors, (ii) regarding any other financial, operating or other information 
about the Agency, the Facilities, or the Bonds, or (iii) that no changes, circumstances or events have occurred since 
the end of the fiscal year to which this Continuing Disclosure Annual Report relates (other than as contained in this 
Continuing Disclosure Annual Report), or any other date specified with respect to any of the information contained in 
this Continuing Disclosure Annual Report, or that no other information exists, which may have a bearing on the 
security for the Bonds, or an investor’s decision to buy, sell, or hold the Bonds.  The information contained in this 
Continuing Disclosure Annual Report has been delivered by the Program Administrator.  No statement in this 
Continuing Disclosure Annual Report should be construed as a prediction or representation about future financial 
performance of the Agency or the Facilities.  

Dated: January 15, 2025 

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII 



Pursuant to the Disclosure Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Annual Report of the Agency shall include the 
following information:   

(a) (1) audited financial statements for the Agency, on a consolidated basis, and (2) audited financial 
statements for the Facilities, supplied by the Project Administrator pursuant to the Project Administration 
Agreement in each case including a balance sheet and related statements of income and changes in 
financial position as of the end of such fiscal year and for such fiscal year, which shall be prepared and 
reported on without qualification by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with 
GAAP, and shall fairly present the financial condition of the Agency and the Facilities, as applicable, as 
of the end of such fiscal year;   

(b) a certificate signed by the Disclosure Representative stating that (1) during such fiscal year to the best 
of the Agency’s actual knowledge, the Agency has observed and performed all of its covenants and 
agreements set forth in the Indenture and the other Bond Documents, except as disclosed in such 
certificate, and (2) no Event of Default has occurred or exists, except as disclosed in such certificate; and   

(c) an occupancy report provided by the Project Administrator pursuant to the Project Administration 
Agreement stating each lease of all or any part of the Facilities in effect as of the last day of the month 
prior to the date of delivery thereof, and including the breakdown of (1) units by each income restriction 
category pursuant to the Regulatory Agreement, (2) market rate units, and (3) other units to the extent 
tenant income is unknown at the time.  

As described above, the audited financial statements of the Agency and the Facilities for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2024 are set forth in Appendices A and B hereto, respectively.  The occupancy report and the Disclosure 
Representative certificate are set forth in Appendices C and D hereto, respectively. 



APPENDIX A 
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AGENCY

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII

Carlsbad, California

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of CMFA Special Finance Agency VII (the

"Agency"), which comprise the consolidated statements of net position as of June 30, 2024, and the related

consolidated statement of revenues, expenses, and change in net position, and cash flows for the year then

ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the

consolidated financial position of the Agency as of June 30, 2024, and the change in its net position and its cash

flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

("GAAP").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America ("GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to

be independent of CMFA Special Finance Agency VII and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance

with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with GAAP, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the

preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are

conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Agency's ability to

continue as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that

includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and

therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material

misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,

individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the

consolidated financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

% Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

% Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures

include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements.

% Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

% Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements.

% Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise

substantial doubt about the Agency's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of

time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that

we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that a management's discussion

and analysis be presented to supplement the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the

responsibility of management and, although not a part of the consolidated financial statements, is required by

the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) who considers it to be an essential part of financial

reporting for placing the consolidated financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical

context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of

management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency

with management's responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained

during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the

information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or

provide any assurance.
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Report on Consolidating Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a

whole. The consolidating statement of net position, consolidating statement of revenues, expenses, and change

in net position, and consolidating statement of cash flows, are presented for purposes of additional analysis of

the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the financial position, change in net position, and

cash flows of the individual companies, and are not a required part of the consolidated financial statements.

Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying

accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating

information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial

statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to

the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the

consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing

standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all

material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.  

Wipfli LLP

Radnor, Pennsylvania

January 15, 2025
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GENERAL BACKGROUND, OVERVIEW AND PROGRAMS

B9)$4()'06$Q&-$28(&'/R)3$2'$<156 S?$@>@S?$1'3)8$+9)$G82T/-/2'- 2D$+9)$<2/'+$;U)80/-)$2D$V2Q)8-$40+$2D$+9)$W2T)8'*)'+$

E23)$2D$+9)$F+&+)$2D$E&5/D28'/&N$B9)$4()'06$/-$&$P2/'+$)U)80/-)$2D$G2Q)8-$&1+928/+6$&'3$G1O5/0$)'C+6$D28*)3$G18-1&'+$+2$&$

<2/'+$;U)80/-)$2D$V2Q)8-$4(8))*)'+$J4(8))*)'+K$O)+Q))'$+9)$E&5/D28'/&$%1'/0/G&5$7/'&'0)$41+928/+6$J+9)$41+928/+6K$&'3$

+9)$E/+6$2D$X1'C'(+2' Y)&09?$E&5/D28'/& &-$09&8+)8$*)*O)8-?$+2$Q9/09$0)8+&/'$2+9)8$0/C)-$&'3$021'C)-$*&6$/'$+9)$D1+18)$

P2/'$&-$&33/C2'&5$*)*O)8-N$B9)$4()'06$/-$&1+928/R)3$&'3$)*G2Q)8)3$1'3)8$+9)$40+$&'3$+9)$4(8))*)'+$+2$/--1)$O2'3-$

+2$ 1'3)8+&Z)$ +9)$ L'&'0/'($ &'3[28$ 8)L'&'0/'($ 2D$ &'6$ G18G2-)$ 28$ &0CT/+6$ G)8*/\)3$ 1'3)8$ +9)$ 40+$ 28$ &'6$ 2+9)8$ 5&Q?$

/'0513/'($G82P)0+-$+9&+$G82T/3)$&]283&O5)$520&5$921-/'($D28$52Q^/'02*)?$*)3/&'^/'02*)$&'3$*23)8&+)^/'02*)$D&*/5/)-$

&'3$/'3/T/31&5-N

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024
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OVERVIEW OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII

%&'&()*)'+,-$./-01--/2'$&'3$4'&56-/-$

728$+9)$:)&8$;'3)3 <1')$=>?$@>@A

$ B9)$Consolidated Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Posi on &0021'+-$D28$&55 +9)$4()'06,-$
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

B9)$&--)+-?$5/&O/5/C)-?$&'3$')+$G2-/C2'$&-$2D$<1')$=>?$@>@A? &'3$@>@= &'3$09&'()-$D82*$+9)$G8/28$6)&8$&8)$-92Q'$/'$+9)$

+&O5)$O)52QN

2024 2023 Change 

Assets:

E&-9 &'3$0&-9$)h1/T&5)'+- S?>b>?eS@$ b>b?AAa$ =a=?>aa$

_)-+8/0+)3$0&-9$M$/'T)-+*)'+- @b?Sa@?d@b$ ==?@=b?@>d$ Ja?>bA?@c@K

j+9)8$0188)'+$&--)+- bba?cbb$ S=>?S=d$ aAa?b=c$

j+9)8$&--)+- Sd=?@e=?baa$ Sd@?dS@?@c@$ =AS?AcA$

Total assets 222,264,082 226,987,076 (4,722,994)

Liabilities:

E188)'+$5/&O/5/+/)- A?ccA?SdS$ e?=A=?c@a$ JAed?a=eK

k2'(^+)8*$O2'3-$G&6&O5) @==?S=@?e>>$ @=A?>=@?ba=$ Jd>>?@a=K

Total liabilities 238,016,691 239,376,589 (1,359,898)

$$$$.)D)88)3$/'D52Q$2D$8)-2180)- ac=?AA@$ >$ ac=?AA@$

Net position (deficit) (16,436,051) (12,389,513) (4,046,538)

ASSETS

Restricted Cash and Investments

_)-+8/0+)3$0&-9 &'3$/'T)-+*)'+- &8)$-)+$&-/3)$D28$-G)0/L)3$G18G2-)-?$-109$&-$8)D1'3&O5)$3)G2-/+-$+2$+)'&'+-?$-)8T/0/'($2D$

+9)$V82P)0+,-$21+-+&'3/'($3)O+$2O5/(&C2'-$&'3$+9)$02'-+810C2'$2D$0&G/+&5$&--)+-N$F109$&--)+-$9&T)$O))'$8)-+8/0+)3$O6$

)/+9)8$O2'3$/'3)'+18)?$5&Q$28$+9821(9$02'+8&0+1&5$2O5/(&C2'-N

B9)$8)310C2'$/'$8)-+8/0+)3$0&-9$&'3$/'T)-+*)'+-$Q&-$31)$+2$Q/+938&Q&5-$D28$+9)$G18G2-)-$2D$0&G/+&5$&--)+-$G1809&-)-$&-$

Q)55$&-$3)O+$2O5/(&C2'-N
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NET POSITION

B9)$D2552Q/'($+&O5)$G8)-)'+-$&$02'3)'-)3$-+&+)*)'+$2D$8)T)'1)-?$)UG)'-)-?$&'3$09&'()$/'$')+$G2-/C2'$D28$+9)$6)&8-$)'3)3$

<1')$=>?$@>@A? &'3$@>@=N$

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position

2024 2023 Change 

$$$ jG)8&+/'($8)T)'1)- S@?>d>?ed>$ SS?aSe?cde$ AbA?ade$

$$$ jG)8&+/'($)UG)'-)- d?bcc?@>c$ d?=c=?e@e$ A>A?ac=$

$$$$l2'2G)8&+/'($)UG)'-)- a?=Ac?d@>$ b?>dd?>A>$ Jbe>?S@>K

Change in net position (4,046,538) (4,866,670) 820,132 

l)+$G2-/+/2'$^ O)(/''/'($2D$6)&8 JS@?=cd?eS=K Jb?e@@?cA=K JA?caa?ab>K

Net position - end of year (16,436,051) (12,389,513) (4,046,538)

LIABILITIES

Bonds Payable

Y2'3-$G&6&O5)$3)08)&-)3$`ce>?@a=$/' 7:@>@AN$B9/- 02*G8/-)-$G8/'0/G&5$G&6*)'+- 2D$`=c>?>>>$2'$+9)$F)8/)-$@>@S4$
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Consolidated Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2024

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,070,512

Restricted cash 726,484

Restricted investments 26,436,443

Tenants accounts receivable, net 29,899

Lease receivables, current portion 636,615

Prepaid expenses 110,363

Total current assets 29,010,316

Lease receivables, net of current portion 2,537

Capital assets, net 193,251,229

Total assets $ 222,264,082

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Net Position

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 741,571

Accrued expenses 61,750

Accrued interest 3,368,875

Security deposits 661,995

Current portion of bonds payable 50,000

Total current liabilities 4,884,191

Bonds payable, net of current portion 233,132,500

Total liabilities 238,016,691

Deferred inflow of resources 683,442

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets (43,300,146)

Restricted for debt service and other purposes 27,162,927

Unrestricted (298,832)

Total net position (16,436,051)

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, and net position $ 222,264,082

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Consolidated Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Operating revenues:

Rental income $ 10,801,249

Other income 1,289,341

Total operating revenues 12,090,590

Operating expenses

Advertising 33,451

Depreciation 6,128,724

General and administrative 351,301

Insurance 601,952

Other 85,698

Property management fees 247,963

Project administration fees 250,000

Repairs and maintenance 751,475

Salaries and benefits 816,983

Utilities 520,661

Total operating expenses 9,788,208

Operating income 2,302,382

Nonoperating revenues (expense):

Interest expense (7,184,303)

Interest income 835,383

Total nonoperating expense (6,348,920)

Change in net position (4,046,538)

Net position as of June 30, 2023 (12,389,513)

Net position as of June 30, 2024 $ (16,436,051)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 12,323,730

Cash paid to suppliers and service providers (4,361,759)

Net cash flows from operating activities 7,961,971

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Purchase of capital assets (6,467,671)

Principal payments on bonds (380,000)

Interest payment on bonds (7,660,900)

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities (14,508,571)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Net change in restricted investments 5,755,339

Interest income 835,383

Net cash flows from investing activities 6,590,722

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 44,122

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of the year 1,752,874

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of the year $ 1,796,996
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Net operating income $ 2,302,382

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation 6,128,724

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Tenants accounts receivable (1,623)

Prepaid expenses (8,501)

Lease receivable (640,205)

Accounts payable (139,785)

Accrued expenses (404,239)

Deferred inflow of resources 667,987

Tenant security deposits 57,231

Total adjustments 5,659,589

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 7,961,971

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,070,512

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Tenant security deposits 661,995

Restricted cash equivalents in accordance with bond indenture 64,489

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 1,796,996

Supplemental cash flow information:

       Noncash financing activities:

Amortization of bond premiums $ 470,263

Accrued interest 6,334

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1: Organization, Operations, and Reporting Entity

The CMFA Special Finance Agency VII (the Agency) was organized on July 1, 2021, under the provisions of the

Joint Exercise of Powers Act (Act) of the Government Code of the State of California. The Agency is a joint

exercise of powers authority and public entity formed pursuant to a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement

(Agreement) between the California Municipal Finance Authority (the Authority) and the City of Huntington

Beach, California (City) as charter members, to which certain other cities and counties may in the future join as

additional members. The Agency is authorized and empowered under the Act and the Agreement to issue bonds

to undertake the financing and/or refinancing of any purpose or activity permitted under the Act or any other

law, including projects that provide affordable local housing for low-income, median-income and moderate-

income families and individuals. The Agency is governed by the Board of Directors consisting of, ex officio, the

board of directors of the Authority.

The Breakwater Apartments, Huntington Beach, California (The Breakwater Apartments)

On August 19, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-1 (Senior Bonds), Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-2 (Junior Bonds) and Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series

2021B (Series 2021B Bonds). The Series 2021B Bonds were directly issued to, or at the direction of, Catalyst

Housing Group LLC (Catalyst), a California limited liability company in exchange for the sale and assignment of

certain assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to the project, a business plan for the Agency, and

certain intellectual property created by Catalyst for the Agency. The bonds, with an aggregate principal amount of

$221,885,000, were issued pursuant to a Trust Indenture (the "Indenture") by and between the Agency and

Wilmington Trust, National Association, (the "Trustee") to finance the acquisition of a 400-unit multifamily

residential rental community and related improvements, personal property and equipment known as The

Breakwater Apartments located at 16761 Viewpoint Lane, Huntington Beach, California (the Project).

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Agency and its subsidiary, The

Breakwater Apartments, after elimination of all material intercompany transactions and accounts.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Agency's accounting policies and financial statements conform to U.S. GAAP and are based upon the

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. The following is a summary of the more

significant policies:

Basis of Accounting

The Agency's consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in

accordance with GAAP as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Under the accrual basis,

revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred,

regardless of the timing of the cash flows.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the

consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible to cash and

have remaining maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition. 

Restricted Cash and Investments and Investment Income

Restricted cash and investments represent the unspent proceeds of the bonds that are held by the Trustee. These

investments are made up of various funds that were required to be funded by the Indenture. Also included in

restricted cash are tenant security deposit funds. See Note 3 for a listing of the funds held by the Trustee.

Restricted investments are made up of money market funds and guaranteed investment contracts. The

guaranteed investment contracts are considered trading securities, therefore are measured at fair value.

All investment income is reported as nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the accompanying statement of

revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. Realized gains or losses are determined by specific

identification.

Tenant Accounts Receivable

Tenant accounts receivable are uncollateralized residential and commercial rents, which are due at the beginning

of each month. Payments of tenant receivables are allocated to the specific charges identified on the tenant’s

remittance or, if unspecified, are applied to past due balances first, then the current unpaid charges.

Management individually reviews all tenant receivables and based on an assessment of current creditworthiness,

estimates the portion, if any, of the balance that could be uncollectible. Any amounts that remain outstanding

after management has used reasonable collection efforts are deemed uncollectible and written-off through a

charge to the valuation allowance and elimination of the tenant accounts receivable. There is $2,869 of

uncollectible allowance recorded as of June 30, 2024.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary

transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  A three-tier hierarchy prioritizes the inputs

used in measuring fair value.  These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted market

prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that are

either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market

data exists, therefore, requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.  The asset's or liability's fair value

measurement within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value

measurement.

Tenant Security Deposit Funds

Tenant security deposits represent tenant deposits held in accordance with the respective tenant's lease

agreement which are held in trust for the tenants until they vacate the property. Any amounts not returned to

the tenant due to lease violations are transferred to the Project's general operating account.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are defined by the Agency as assets with an initial, individual cost of $1,000 or more and an

estimated useful life of more than one year. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical

cost, if actual cost is not available, and when placed in service. Capital assets are depreciated on a straight-line

basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets (3 - 30 years). Depreciation of capital assets is recorded as an

expense against operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Management reviews the recoverability of its capital assets in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement

No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. GASB

Statement No. 42 requires the recognition of impairment of capital assets in the event an asset's service utility

has declined significantly and unexpectedly. Accordingly, management evaluates its assets' utility annually or

when an event occurs that may impair recoverability of the asset.

Long-Lived Assets

The Agency reviews its long-lived assets periodically to determine potential impairment by comparing the

carrying value of those assets with the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use

of the assets, including cash flows from disposition.  Should the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash

flows be less than the carrying value, the Agency would recognize an impairment loss at that time.  No

impairment loss was recognized in the fiscal year 2024.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the consolidated statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section of

deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources,

represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an

outflow of resources (expense) until then. At this time, the Agency has no items that are reported in this

category.

In addition to liabilities, the consolidated statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for

deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,

represents the acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an

inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.

Original Issue Premium

Original issue premium represents the difference between the face value of the bonds and the consideration

received. Original issue premium is deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line

method. Amortization of the premium is reflected as a decrease to interest expense in the consolidated

statement of revenues, expenses, and change in net position.

Net Position

Net position of the Agency is classified in three components:

% Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, including bond proceeds held for capital assets,

net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by any outstanding borrowings used to finance the

purchase or construction of those assets.

% Restricted for debt service and other purposes is net position that is restricted for the future payment of

debt and is required to be held under an agreement with the Trustee, as well as other funds included in

restricted investments.

% Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position that does not meet the definition of net investment

in capital assets or restricted for debt service and other purposes.

Income Taxes

As an essential government function of the Agency, the Agency and Project are generally exempt from federal

and state income taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code and a similar provision of state law.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs expensed during the year ended June 30, 2024,

were $33,451. 

Revenue Recognition

Housing units are rented under operating lease agreements with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms

are one year or less. Rent income from tenants is recognized in the month in which it is earned rather than

received.  Other income consists of income from pet rent, parking, laundry, and utility reimbursements from

tenants.

GASB 87 Lease Accounting

The Project is a lessor in multiple housing units lease agreements. The Project accounts for its leases in

accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB"), Statement No. 87, Leases. If the

contract provides the right to substantially all the economic benefits and the right to direct the use of the

identified asset, it is considered to be or contain a lease. Lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources are

recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the future lease payments over the

expected lease term. The deferred inflow of resources is also adjusted for any lease prepayments made, lease

incentives received, and initial direct costs incurred. See Note 9 for leases.

The Project uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Project has elected to not recognize lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources for short-term leases

that have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease commencement and do not include an option to renew the

lease agreement. Leases containing termination clauses in which either party may terminate the lease without

cause and the notice period is less than 12 months are deemed short-term leases. The Project recognizes short-

term lease income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Subsequent Events

The Agency has evaluated subsequent events through January 15, 2025, which is the date the consolidated

financial statements were available to be issued.

Note 3: Deposits and Investments

The Agency's restricted cash and investments are subject to several types of risk:

Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that the changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair

value of an investment. The Agency does have a formal investment policy for interest rate risk.

15



CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that the issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its

obligations. At June 30, 2024, the Agency’s investments were not rated.

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Agency's deposits

may not be returned to it. The Agency does have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. The Project's deposits

are held with the Trustee and are fully insured. The Agency's deposits are collateralized.

Although not part of the Indenture, included in restricted cash and cash equivalents are tenant security deposits

of $661,995 as of June 30, 2024. As such, this amount is not included in the table below summarizing restricted

cash and investments by fund.

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Agency was required to establish certain restricted reserves with bond proceeds

that were funded at closing for the bond issuance. All reserve accounts are restricted for specific use and

withdrawals from the restricted accounts are subject to approval by the Trustee.

The following table provides a summary of restricted investments by fund as required by the Indenture:

Fund / Account Name

As of June 30,

2024

Revenue fund $ 1,049,813

Operating Reserve fund 662,108

Administrative Expenses fund 166,728

Excess Revenue fund 6,025,379

Extraordinary Expense fund 500,000

Project Acquisition fund 41,574

Capital Reserve fund 7,376,699

Temporary Operating account 223,824

Senior Debt Service account 1,665,117

Senior Debt Service Reserve fund 4,162,500

Junior Debt Service account 1,236,407

Junior Debt Service Reserve fund 3,125,400

Subordinate Debt Service account 200,894

Totals $ 26,436,443

Revenue Fund

Pursuant to the Project Administration Agreement (Note 7), at the end of each month, the operator is required to

transfer all monies into the revenue fund held by the Trustee as soon as practicable as long as any bonds remain

outstanding.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Operating Reserve Fund

The operating reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account. If at any time the

amount on deposit in the operating reserve fund exceeds the operating reserve requirement, amounts in excess

of the operating reserve requirement shall be deposited into the revenue fund. As of June 30, 2024, the deposits

on hand in the operating reserve fund met the operating reserve requirement of $662,108.

Administrative Expenses Fund

The administrative expenses fund shall be used only for the purpose of paying administrative expenses. In the

event the amount in the administrative expense fund is insufficient to pay the administrative expenses, the

trustee shall apply amounts in the operating reserve fund for the payment of administrative expenses.

Excess Revenue Fund

Excess revenue fund shall be applied first to the revenue fund to satisfy any insufficiency of payments required

pursuant to flow of funds, and then to the redemption of bonds. On the first date upon which no bonds remain

outstanding, any and all moneys in the excess revenue fund shall be transferred by the Trustee to the project

jurisdiction.

Extraordinary Expense Fund

The extraordinary expense fund is used to pay for extraordinary expenses, as approved by the Agency and

processed by the Trustee. The Trustee will disburse moneys from the extraordinary expense fund to the Agency

for certain expenses meeting the extraordinary definition in the Indenture. After discharge of the Indenture, the

Agency shall retain any monies in the extraordinary expense fund, unless a different arrangement is agreed to at

the Agency's discretion. As of June 30, 2024, the deposits on hand in the coverage reserve fund met the coverage

reserve deposit requirement of $500,000.

Project Acquisition Fund

The project acquisition fund is used to pay the amounts required by the provision of the Indenture and make

disbursements of amounts in accordance with a request of the project administrator for the purpose of paying a

portion of the purchase price of the Project.

Capital Reserve Fund

The capital reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account. The monies in this

account shall be used for the purpose of paying for capital expenses included in the capital budget or otherwise

expressly authorized by the Project Administration Agreement and capital expenses not included in the capital

budget with the prior written consent of the Agency.

Temporary Operating Account

The temporary operating account shall be used only to fund the operating account pursuant to the Property

Management Agreement and the remaining amount will be available to pay property taxes. Any refunds and

amounts remaining as of January 1, 2022 shall be deposited into the Revenue Fund and the Temporary Operating

Account shall be closed.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Senior Debt Service Account

The senior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the Senior Bonds,

the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before each

principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date.

Senior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The senior debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service subaccount of the

senior debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the senior debt service reserve fund met

the requirement outlined in the trust indenture.

Junior Debt Service Account

The junior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the Junior Bonds,

the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before each

principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date.

Junior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The junior debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the junior debt service subaccount of the

debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the junior debt service reserve fund met the

requirement outlined in the trust indenture.

Subordinate Debt Service Account

The subordinate debt service account is used to fund any interest that is due and payable on the next ensuing

interest payment on each series of outstanding subordinate bonds.

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

Quoted market prices are used to determine the fair value of investments in publicly traded equity securities and

exchange traded funds.  Certificates of deposit, corporate bonds, and government obligations are valued using

quotes from pricing vendors based on recent trading activity and other observable market data.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable

value or reflective of future fair value.  Furthermore, while the Agency believes its valuation methods are

appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to

determine the fair value could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

Information regarding assets at fair value on a recurring basis as of  June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Recurring Fair Value Measurements Using

As of June 30, 2024

Total Assets at

Fair Value

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets for

Identical

Assets

(Level 1)

Significant

Other

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3)

Money market funds $ 9,059,533 $ 9,059,533 $ - $ -

Guaranteed investment contracts 17,376,910 - 17,376,910 -

Totals $ 26,436,443 $ 9,059,533 $ 17,376,910 $ -

Following is a description of the valuation methodology and significant inputs used for each asset and liability

measured at fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring basis, as well as the classification of the asset or liability

within the fair value hierarchy.

Money market funds -The fair value of money market funds are based on inputs that are observable, such as

quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities and credit risk.

Guaranteed investment contracts - The fair value of guaranteed investment contracts are based on inputs that

are observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities

and credit risk. Interest rates range from 0.91% to 1.50%. The contract issuer is contractually obligated to repay

the principal and interest at the specified interest rate that is guaranteed to the investment holder. The

investment holder may withdraw the full principal balance on deposit, terminating the contract, at any time.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 5: Capital Assets

The capital assets balance at June 30, 2024, consists of the following activity:

Balance 

June 30, 2023 Additions Deletions

Balance 

June 30, 2024

Capital assets not depreciated:

Land $ 37,689,839 $ - $ - $ 37,689,839

Capital assets depreciable

Building and improvements 165,258,850 6,453,661 - 171,712,511

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 249,999 14,010 - 264,009

Total depreciable capital assets 165,508,849 6,467,671 - 171,976,520

Less accumulated depreciation:

Building and improvements (10,265,965) (6,077,668) - (16,343,633)

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment (20,441) (51,056) - (71,497)

Total accumulated depreciation (10,286,406) (6,128,724) - (16,415,130)

Total capital assets depreciable, net 155,222,443 338,947 - 155,561,390

Total capital assets, net $ 192,912,282 $ 338,947 $ - $ 193,251,229

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $6,128,724.

Note 6: Bonds Payable

On August 19, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-1 (Senior Bonds) (Series

2021A-1 Bonds) in the amount of $138,750,000 and Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-2 (Junior

Bonds) (Series 2021A-2 Bonds) in the amount of $78,135,000, collectively, the Series 2021A Bonds. The proceeds

of the Series 2021A Bonds were used for financing the cost of the acquisition of a multifamily rental housing

facility and related improvements known as the Breakwater Apartments and the costs of issuance of the Series

2021A Bonds.

Concurrently with the issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds, the Agency directly issued Subordinate Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021B (Series 2021B Bonds) in the amount of $5,000,000 to Catalyst Housing

Group LLC, a California limited liability company (Catalyst) in exchange for the sale and assignment of certain

assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to the Breakwater Apartments, a business plan and certain

intellectual property created by Catalyst.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

The bonds are summarized as follows:

Obligations

Original

Amount Interest Rate

Final Maturity

Date

Balance

Outstanding

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

A-1 $ 138,750,000 %3.00 August 1, 2056 $ 138,750,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

A-2 78,135,000 %4.00 August 1, 2047 77,270,000

Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds,

Series 2021B 5,000,000 %8.00 August 1, 2061 5,000,000

Activity for the bonds was as follows for the year ended June 30, 2024:

Obligations

Balance 

June 30, 2023 Additions Reductions

Balance 

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

A-1 $ 138,750,000 $ - $ - $ 138,750,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series  2021

A-2 77,650,000 - (380,000) 77,270,000

Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds,

Series 2021B 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000

Unamortized Bond Premium Series 2021 A

Bonds 12,632,763 - (470,263) 12,162,500

Totals $ 234,032,763 $ - $ (850,263) $ 233,182,500

Interest payments on the bonds are due semi-annually (February 1st and August 1st) commencing February 1,

2022. Principal payments are not to be made on any bond unless and until such bond is tendered to the Trustee

for cancellation; however partial payments may be made from time to time at the election of ownership. $50,000

of the outstanding principal balance is classified as a current liability and the remaining $233,132,500 of

outstanding principal is classified as a long-term liability as of June 30, 2024.
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CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

The bonds require the Project to maintain a DSCR, as defined in the agreement, of 1.10:1.00, measured on an

annual basis. If the DSCR calculated is not equal to or greater than 1.10:1.00, the Agency will cause the Project

Administrator to select and appoint, a Housing Consultant to make written recommendations regarding the fees,

rentals, rates and charges imposed and collected by or on behalf of the Project Administrator and transferred to

the Trustee, in connection with the operation of the Project, and regarding improvements or changes in the

operations or management of or the services rendered by the Project Administrator; provided, however, that in

the event that a Housing Consultant shall deliver a report to the Project Administrator, the Agency and the

Trustee stating that state or federal laws or regulations or administrative interpretations of such laws or

regulations then in existence do not permit, or by their application make it impracticable for the Project

Administrator to conduct its business so as to maintain the DSCR at a level sufficient to meet the debt service

coverage requirement, then the debt service coverage requirement shall be reduced to the highest practicable

ratio permitted by the laws or regulations then in effect but in no event less than 1.00:1.00.

The Project's principal and interest payments are flexible based on cash flows from the Project. Based on

management projections at the time of underwriting, the amortization schedule is as follows:

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 50,000 $ 7,687,900 $ 7,737,900

2026 280,000 7,683,900 7,963,900

2027 540,000 7,670,100 8,210,100

2028 825,000 7,645,700 8,470,700

2029 1,125,000 7,609,800 8,734,800

2030-2034 16,575,000 36,194,400 52,769,400

2035-2039 22,360,000 32,747,600 55,107,600

2040-2044 39,215,000 27,045,000 66,260,000

2045-2049 55,755,000 18,737,600 74,492,600

2050-2054 79,295,000 8,946,500 88,241,500

2055-2059 - 2,000,000 2,000,000

2060-2061 5,000,000 1,000,000 6,000,000

Totals $ 221,020,000 $ 164,968,500 $ 385,988,500
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

Long-term pledged revenues as of June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Type of Pledges Revenue

Fiscal Year

Maturity Date

Pledged

Revenue to

Maturity

Debt Principal

& Interest

Expense For

the Year Ended

2024

2024 Pledged

Revenue

Available

Net Rental Revenue:

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A 2056 $ 365,988,500 $ 7,164,303 $ 7,694,669

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 B 2061 20,000,000 400,000 400,000

Totals $ 385,988,500 $ 7,564,303 $ 8,094,669

Note 7: Related-Party Transactions

The Agency signed a Project Administration Agreement (PAA) with a third-party administrator, Catalyst, on

August 1, 2021, for the Project that establishes the terms and conditions upon which the third-party

administrator shall, as an independent contractor, monitor, supervise, coordinate, analyze and report to the

Agency with respect to the project and the project manager’s performance under the PAA. The PAA renews

automatically on its anniversary date unless terminated as a result of circumstances as defined by the PAA.

Project administration fees incurred and paid to the project administrator under the PAA during the year ended

June 30, 2024 were $250,000. All project administration fees were paid by June 30, 2024, as such, there was no

accrued expense at June 30, 2024.

The Agency also signed a Property Management Agreement (PMA) with a third-party property manager,

Greystar, on August 1, 2021, for the project that establishes the terms and conditions for the operation and

maintenance of the project including preparing annual operating budgets, marketing and leasing the project,

collecting rents, managing the payment of operating expenses for the project, maintenance and repair of the

project and management of on-site employees. The PMA renews automatically on its anniversary date unless

terminated as a result of circumstances as defined by the PMA. The property management fees are the greater of

2.00% of gross operating revenue or $17,300 per month.  Property management fees and reimbursable expenses

incurred for the year ended June 30, 2024 were $247,963 and $1,039,621. Accrued property management fees at

June 30, 2024, were $21,808.

Under the terms of the Indenture, the Project must pay the Agency an annual administrative fee of $150,000

payable each August 1, commencing August 1, 2022. Annual administrative fees prepaid as of June 30, 2024 were

$12,500.
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Note 7: Related-Party Transactions (Continued)

The project is subject to a Public Benefit Agreement, which the Agency signed with the City of Huntington Beach,

California (City), and is dated as of August 1, 2021. Pursuant to the Public Benefit Agreement, commencing 15

years after the date of issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds (the sale right exercise date or August 1, 2036), and for

a period of time thereafter terminating on the date that is the earlier of 14 years from the sale right exercise

date, or the date on which there is no debt outstanding, the City shall have the right to cause the Agency to sell

all of the Agency’s right, title and interest, including the fee simple title to the real property, in and to all property

and assets used in or related to the project to the City or the City’s designee, at a sales price at least equal to the

sum of an amount sufficient to prepay any debt secured by the project and any expenses associated with

effecting the sale.

Note 8: Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Agency occasionally becomes involved in legal proceedings relating to

contracts, environmental issues, or other matters. While any proceeding or litigation has an element of

uncertainty, management of the Agency believes that the outcome of any pending or threatened actions, will not

have a material adverse effect on the business or financial condition of the Agency. It is at least reasonably

possible that within the near term an outcome pertaining to these matters could differ from management’s

estimates, and the resulting change could be material to the financial statements.

Note 9: Leases

The Project enters into lease agreements for each housing unit with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms

are one year or less. Occasionally, a few lease agreements are leased with terms exceeding twelve months. Each

lease agreement entered does not grant lease renewal options.

The lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Payments due under the lease contracts include fixed payments.

The lease receivable is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease fixed payments over twelve

months, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the

Project's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease receivable associated to these lease agreements

comprise of only fixed payments.

The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured at the commencement of the lease term. This is equal to

the amount of the lease receivable plus any lease payments related to future periods, less any lease incentives

paid to, or on behalf of, the lessee at or before the commencement of the lease term. As of June 30, 2024, the

deferred inflow of resources was $683,442, which includes $43,734 of deferred revenue.

As lease payments are received, the lease receivable will be reduced, and the deferred inflow of resources will be

recognized as revenue.
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Note 9: Leases (Continued)

Maturities of lease receivables are as follows as of June 30, 2024:

Total Lease

Payments

Amounts

Representing

Interest

Present Value

of Lease

Payments

2025 $ 640,318 $ 3,703 $ 636,615

2026 2,557 20 2,537

Totals $ 642,875 $ 3,723 $ 639,152
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Agency Breakwater Eliminations Consolidated

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 164,511$              906,001$          -$                   1,070,512$       

Restricted cash - 726,484 - 726,484

Restricted investments - 26,436,443 - 26,436,443

Tenant accounts receivable, net - 29,899 - 29,899

Lease receivables, current portion - 636,615 - 636,615

Prepaid expenses and other assets - 122,863 (12,500) 110,363

Total current assets 164,511 28,858,305 (12,500) 29,010,316

Lease receivables, net of current portion - 2,537 - 2,537

Capital assets, net - 193,251,229 - 193,251,229

Total assets 164,511$              222,112,071$  (12,500)$           222,264,082$  

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable -$                      741,571$          -$                   741,571$          

Accrued expenses - 61,750 - 61,750

Accrued interest - 3,368,875 - 3,368,875

Tenant security deposits - 661,995 - 661,995

Current portion of bonds payable - 50,000 - 50,000

Total current liabilities - 4,884,191 - 4,884,191

Bonds payable, net of current portion - 233,132,500 - 233,132,500

Total liabilities - 238,016,691 - 238,016,691

Deferred inflow of resources 12,500 683,442 (12,500) 683,442

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets - (43,300,146) - (43,300,146)

Restricted for debt service and other purposes - 27,162,927 - 27,162,927

Unrestricted 152,011 (450,843) - (298,832)

Total net position 152,011 (16,588,062) - (16,436,051)

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, and net position 164,511$              222,112,071$  12,500)($            222,264,082$  

See Independent Auditor's Report.

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII

Consolidating Statement of Net Position

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Net Position

Assets

As of June 30, 2024
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Agency Breakwater Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenues:

Rental income -$                    10,801,249$      -$                    10,801,249$      

Other income 137,500 1,289,341 (137,500) 1,289,341

Total operating revenues 137,500 12,090,590 (137,500) 12,090,590

Operating expenses:

Advertising  - 33,451 - 33,451

Depreciation - 6,128,724 - 6,128,724

General and administrative 107,190 244,111 - 351,301

Insurance 100 601,852 - 601,952

Other - 223,198 (137,500) 85,698

Property management fees - 247,963 - 247,963

Project administration fees - 250,000 - 250,000

Repairs and maintenance - 751,475 - 751,475

Salaries and benefits - 816,983 - 816,983

Utilities - 520,661 - 520,661

Total operating expenses 107,290 9,818,418 (137,500) 9,788,208

Net operating income 30,210 2,272,172 - 2,302,382

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Interest expense - (7,184,303) - (7,184,303)

Interest income - 835,383 - 835,383

Total nonoperating expense - (6,348,920) - (6,348,920)

Change in net position 30,210 (4,076,748) - (4,046,538)

Net position at June 30, 2023 121,801 (12,511,314) - (12,389,513)

Net position at June 30, 2024 152,011$            (16,588,062)$     -$                    (16,436,051)$     

See Independent Auditor's Report.

Consolidating Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position
Year Ended June 30, 2024

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
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Agency Breakwater Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers 149,750$                 12,173,980$           -$                         12,323,730$           

Cash paid to suppliers and service providers (107,290) (4,254,469) - (4,361,759)

Net cash flows from operating activities 42,460 7,919,511 - 7,961,971

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities: 

Purchases of capital assets - (6,467,671) - (6,467,671)

Principal payments on bonds - (380,000) - (380,000)

Interest payments on bonds - (7,660,900) - (7,660,900)

- (14,508,571) - (14,508,571)

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Net change in restricted investments - 5,755,339 - 5,755,339

Interest income - 835,383 - 835,383

Net cash flows from investing activities - 6,590,722 - 6,590,722

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 42,460 1,662 - 44,122

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of year 122,051 1,630,823 - 1,752,874

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year 164,511$                 1,632,485$             -$                         1,796,996$             

See Independent Auditor's Report.

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities

Year Ended June 30, 2024
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Year Ended June 30, 2024

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII
Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
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Agency Breakwater Eliminations Consolidated

Net operating income $ 30,210 $             2,272,172 $              2,302,382- $

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net cash and cash equivalents

from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

12,500

- 6,128,724

- (1,623)

- (21,001)

- (640,205)

- 6,128,724

- (1,623)

(8,501)

- (640,205)

(250) -

- -

12,500

(139,535)

(404,239)

667,987 (12,500)

(139,785)

(404,239)

667,987

Tenant accounts receivable 

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Lease receivable

Accounts payable 

Accrued expenses

Deferred inflow of resources

Tenant security deposits - 57,231 - 57,231

Total adjustments 12,250                 5,647,339 - 5,659,589

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 42,460 $             7,919,511 $              7,961,971- $

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:

$ 164,511 $ 906,001 $              1,070,512- $Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents: - -

Tenant security deposit funds

Restricted cash and cash equivalents in accordance with bond indenture

- 661,995

- 64,489

- 661,995

- 64,489

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 164,511 $             1,632,485 $              1,796,996- $

Supplemental cashflow information:

Noncash financing activities:

$ - $ 470,263 $ 470,263- $Amortization of bond premium

Accrued interest - 6,334 - 6,334

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII

Carlsbad, California

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Breakwater Apartments, a division of the CMFA

Special Finance Agency VII, which comprise the statement of net position as of June 30, 2024, and the related

statements of revenues, expenses, and change in net position, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the

related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of The Breakwater Apartments as of June 30, 2024, and the changes in net position and cash flows for the

year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (''GAAP'').

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America

("GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the

Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of The Breakwater

Apartments and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements

relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide

a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance

with GAAP, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation

and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about The Breakwater Apartments' ability to

continue as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our

opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in

the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

% Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

% Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

% Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of The Breakwater Apartments’ internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

% Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

% Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise

substantial doubt about The Breakwater Apartments' ability to continue as a going concern for a

reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that

we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that a management's discussion

and analysis, be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of

management and, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting

Standards Board (GASB) who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial

statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited

procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted

in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the

information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the

financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We do not

express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us

with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Wipfli LLP

Radnor, Pennsylvania

October 23, 2024
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A<2B)0+,-$0<)3/+>2<+8/')-- &'3$/+-$&S/5/+6$+2$-100)--:1556$<)02E)<$&55$/+-$02-+-$+8<21(8$1-)<$

:))-$&'3$2+8)<$/'02*)R

$ 78)$Statement of Cash Flows ?<2E/3)-$/':2<*&92'$&S21+$+8)$A<2B)0+,-$0&-8$<)0)/?+-$&'3$

0&-8$?&6*)'+-$31</'($+8)$6)&<$)'3)3$M1')$NOD$POPQR$78/-$-+&+)*)'+$<)?2<+-$0&-8$<)0)/?+-D$

0&-8$?&6*)'+-D$&'3$')+$08&'()-$/'$0&-8$<)-159'($:<2*$2?)<&9'($&'3$/'E)-9'($&09E/9)-R$

78)$-+&+)*)'+$?<2E/3)-$&'->)<-$+2$i1)-92'-$2: >8)<)$0&-8$0&*)$:<2*D$>8&+$0&-8$>&-$

1-)3$:2<$&'3$>8&+$0&1-)3$08&'()-$/'$0&-8$:2<$+8)$<)?2<9'($?)</23$02E)<)3R

78)$ &002*?&'6/'($ Notes to the Basic Financial Statements ?<2E/3)$ &33/92'&5$ /':2<*&92'$ +8&+$ /-$

)--)'9&5$+2$&$:155$1'3)<-+&'3/'($2:$+8)$3&+&$?<2E/3)3$/'$+8)$K'&'0/&5$-+&+)*)'+-R

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

78)$&--)+-D$5/&S/5/9)-D$&'3$')+$?2-/92'$&-$2:$M1')$NOD$POPQD &'3$POPN &'3$08&'()-$:<2*$+8)$?</2<$6)&<$&<)$

-82>'$/'$+8)$+&S5)$S)52>R

2024 2023 Change 

Asset:

F&-8 $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$dOaDOOU$ $$$$$$$$$$$eceDNde$ $$$$$$$$$$NPODaOa$

^)-+</0+)3$0&-8 L$/'E)-+*)'+ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$PbDUaPDdPb$ $$$$$NNDPNbDPOd$ $$$$@aDObQDPcPC

k+8)<$01<<)'+$&--)+- $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$bcdDNbb$ $$$$$$$$$$$UNODUNd$ $$$$$$$$$$aedDPNc$

k+8)<$&--)+- $$$$$$$$$$$$$$UdNDPeNDbaa$ $$$UdPDdUPDPcP$ $$$$$$$$$$NQUDQcQ$

Total assets               222,112,071    226,865,025     (4,752,954)

Liabilities:

F1<<)'+$5/&S/5/+/)- $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$QDccQDUdU$ $$$$$$$eDNQNDeba$ $$$$$$$$@QedDNceC

l2'(]+)<*$3)S+ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$PNNDUNPDeOO$ $$$PNQDONPDbaN$ $$$$$$$$@dOODPaNC

Total liabilities               238,016,691    239,376,339     (1,359,648)

.):)<<)3$/':52>$2:$<)-21<0)- $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$acNDQQP$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$]$$$ $$$$$$$$acNDQQP

Net position (deficit)               (16,588,062)    (12,511,314)     (4,076,748)
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The Breakwater Apartments

(A division of the CMFA Special Finance Agency VII)

%&'&()*)'+,-$./-01--/2'$&'3$4'&56-/-$

ASSETS

Restricted Cash and Investments

^)-+</0+)3$0&-8 &'3$/'E)-+*)'+- &<)$-)+$&-/3)$:2<$-?)0/K)3$?1<?2-)-D$-108$&-$<):1'3&S5)$3)?2-/+-$+2$

+)'&'+-D$-)<E/0/'($2:$+8)$A<2B)0+,-$21+-+&'3/'($3)S+$2S5/(&92'-$&'3$+8)$02'-+<1092'$2:$0&?/+&5$&--)+-R$

H108$&--)+-$8&E)$S))'$<)-+</0+)3$S6$)/+8)<$S2'3$/'3)'+1<)D$5&>$2<$+8<21(8$02'+<&0+1&5$2S5/(&92'-R

78)$<)31092'$/'$<)-+</0+)3$0&-8$>&-$31)$+2 >/+83<&>&5-$:2<$+8)$?1<?2-)-$2:$0&?/+&5$)W?)'-)-$&-$>)55$&-$

<)5)&-)-$2:$0)<+&/'$<)-)<E)$:1'3-$1?2'$*))9'($3)S+$-)<E/0)$02E)<&()$+8<)-8253-R

NET POSITION

78)$:2552>/'($+&S5)$?<)-)'+-$&$02'3)'-)3$-+&+)*)'+$2:$<)E)'1)-D$)W?)'-)-D$&'3$08&'()$/'$')+$?2-/92'$

:2<$+8)$6)&<-$)'3)3$M1')$NOD$POPQD &'3$POPNR$

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Posi on

2024 2023 Change 

^)E)'1)- $$$$$$$$$UPDOdODedO$ $$$$$$$$$$$UUDaUeDcde$ $$$$$$$$$$QbQDade$

k?)<&9'($)W?)'-)- $$$$$$$$$$$dDcUcDQUc$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$dDQNODdPd$ $$$$$$$$$NcbDQcd

m2']2?)<&9'($)W?)'-)- $$$$$$$$$$$aDNQcDdPO$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$bDOddDOQO$ $$$$$$$$$$@beODUPOC

F8&'()$/'$')+$?2-/92'        (4,076,748)          (4,914,074)        (837,326)

m)+$?2-/92'$] S)(/''/'($2:$6)&< $$$$$$$$@UPDeUUDNUQC $$$$$$$$$$$@bDedbDPQOC $$$$$$@QDdUQDObQC

m)+$?2-/92'$] )'3$2:$6)&< $$$$$$$$@UaDeccDOaPC $$$$$$$$$@UPDeUUDNUQC $$$$$$@QDObaDbQcC

LIABILITIES

Long-term debt 

;2'3-$?&6&S5)$3)0<)&-)3$`ceODPaN$/' G_POPQR$78/- 02*?</-)-$?</'0/?&5$?&6*)'+- 2:$`NcODOOO$2'$+8)$

H)</)-$POPU4$S2'3- &'3 &*2<9T&92'$2:$`QbODPaN$2'$+8)$S2'3$?<)*/1*R

OPERATING REVENUES

k?)<&9'($<)E)'1)-$/'0<)&-)3$2E)<$+8)$?<)E/21- 6)&<$S6$`QbQDadeR$78/-$>&-$31)$+2 /'0<)&-)- /'

-08)315)3$<)'+ :2<$+8)$?)</23 &52'($>/+8$-+&S5)$2001?&'06$&'3$-2*)$<)310)3$)02'2*/0$52--R$

Operating Revenues: 2024 2023 Change 

^)'+&5$/'02*) UODcOUDPQd dDPbeDNQc UDePeDdOU

k+8)<$/'02*) UDPcdDNQU PDNQODeQb @UDOeUDPOaC

72+&5$2?)<&+/'($<)E)'1)- UPDOdODedO UUDaUeDcde $$$QbQDade
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The Breakwater Apartments

(A division of the CMFA Special Finance Agency VII)

%&'&()*)'+,-$./-01--/2'$&'3$4'&56-/-$

OPERATING EXPENSES

k?)<&9'($ )W?)'-)-$ /'0<)&-)3$ :<2*$ `dDQNODdPd /'$ G_POPN +2$ `dDcUcDQUc /'$ G_POPQ n &'$ /'0<)&-)$ 2:$

`NcbDQcdR$78/-$/- 31)$+2$/'0<)&-)3$02-+-$2:$195/9)-D$-&5&</)-D$/'-1<&'0)$&'3$3)?<)0/&92'R
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The Breakwater Apartments
Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2024

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 906,001

Restricted cash 726,484

Restricted investments 26,436,443

Tenant accounts receivable, net 29,899

Lease receivable, current portion 636,615

Prepaid expenses 122,863

Total current assets 28,858,305

Lease receivable, net of current portion 2,537

Capital assets, net 193,251,229

Total other assets 193,253,766

Total assets $ 222,112,071

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Net Position

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 741,571

Accrued expenses 61,750

Accrued interest 3,368,875

Tenant security deposits 661,995

Current portion of bonds payable 50,000

Total current liabilities 4,884,191

Bonds payable 233,132,500

Total liabilities 238,016,691

Deferred inflow of resources 683,442

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets (43,300,146)

Restricted for debt service and other purposes 27,098,438

Unrestricted (386,354)

Total net position (deficit) (16,588,062)

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, and net position $ 222,112,071

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Rental income $ 10,801,249

Other income 1,289,341

Total operating revenues 12,090,590

Operating expenses

Advertising 33,451

Depreciation 6,128,724

General and administrative 244,111

Insurance 601,852

Other 223,198

Property management fees 247,963

Project administration fees 250,000

Repairs and maintenance 751,475

Salaries and benefits 816,983

Utilities 520,661

Total operating expenses 9,818,418

Income from operations 2,272,172

Nonoperating income (expense):

Interest expense (7,184,303)

Interest income 835,383

Change in net position (4,076,748)

Net deficit at June 30, 2023 (12,511,314)

Net deficit at June 30, 2024 $ (16,588,062)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 12,173,980

Cash paid to suppliers and service providers (4,254,469)

Net cash flows from operating activities 7,919,511

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Purchases of capital assets (6,467,671)

Principal payment on bonds (380,000)

Interest payment on bonds (7,660,900)

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities (14,508,571)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Net change in restricted investments 5,755,339

Interest income 835,383

Net cash flows from investing activities 6,590,722

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 1,662

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of the year 1,630,823

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year $ 1,632,485

Net operating income $ 2,272,172

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net cash, cash equivalents, and

restricted cash from operating activities:

Depreciation 6,128,724

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Tenant accounts receivable (1,623)

Prepaid expenses (21,001)

Lease receivable (640,205)

Accounts payable (139,535)

Accrued expenses (404,239)

Deferred inflow of resources 667,987

Tenant security deposits 57,231

Total adjustments 5,647,339

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 7,919,511

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 906,001

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:

Tenant security deposits 661,995

Restricted cash equivalents in accordance with bond indenture 64,489

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 1,632,485

Supplemental cash flow information:

Noncash financing activities:

Amortization of bond premiums $ 470,263

Accrued interest $ 6,334

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1: Organization, Operations and Reporting Entity

The CMFA Special Finance Agency VII (the Agency) was organized on July 1, 2021, under the provisions of the Joint

Exercise of Powers Act (Act) of the Government Code of the State of California. The Agency is a joint exercise of

powers authority and public entity formed pursuant to a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (Agreement)

between the California Municipal Finance Authority (the Authority) and the city of Huntington Beach, California as

charter members, to which certain other cities and counties may in the future join as additional members. The

Agency is authorized and empowered under the Act and the Agreement to issue bonds to undertake the financing

and/or refinancing of any purpose or activity permitted under the Act or any other law, including projects that

provide affordable local housing for low-income, median-income and moderate-income families and individuals.

The Agency is governed by the Board of Directors consisting of, ex officio, the board of directors of the Authority.

The Breakwater Apartments, Huntington Beach, California (Breakwater Apartments)

On August 19, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-1 (Senior Bonds), Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021A-2 (Junior Bonds) and Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series

2021B (Series 2021B Bonds). The Series 2021B Bonds were directly issued to, or at the direction of, Catalyst

Housing Group LLC (Catalyst), a California limited liability company, in exchange for the sale and assignment of

certain assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to the project, a business plan for the Agency, and

certain intellectual property created by Catalyst for the Agency. The bonds, with an aggregate principal amount of

$221,885,000, were issued to finance the acquisition of a 400-unit multifamily residential rental community and

related improvements, personal property and equipment known as The Breakwater Apartments located at 16761

Viewpoint Lane, Huntington Beach, California (the Project).

The accompanying financial statements of the Breakwater Apartments are intended to present the financial

position, changes in financial position and cash flows, of only that portion of the business-type activities of the

Agency that are attributable to the transactions of the Breakwater Apartments. They do not purport to, and do

not, present fairly the financial position of the Agency as of June 30, 2024, and the changes in its financial position

and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America (GAAP).

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Project's financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with

GAAP as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Under the accrual basis, revenues are

recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred, regardless of the

timing of the cash flows.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ

from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible to cash and

have remaining maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition.  

Restricted Cash and Investments and Investment Income

Restricted cash and investments represent the unspent proceeds of the bonds that are held by the Trustee. These

investments are made up of various funds that were required to be funded by the Indenture. Also included in

restricted cash are tenant security deposit funds. See Note 3 for a listing of the funds held by the Trustee.

Restricted investments are made up of money market funds and guaranteed investment contracts. The

guaranteed investment contracts are considered trading securities, therefore are measured at fair value.

All investment income is reported as nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the accompanying statement of

revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. Realized gains or losses are determined by specific identification.

Tenant Accounts Receivable

Tenant accounts receivable are uncollateralized residential rents, which are due at the beginning of each month.

Payments of tenant receivables are allocated to the specific charges identified on the tenant’s remittance or, if

unspecified, are applied to past due balances first, then the current unpaid charges. Management individually

reviews all tenant receivables and based on an assessment of current creditworthiness, estimates the portion, if

any, of the balance that could be uncollectible. Any amounts that remain outstanding after management has used

reasonable collection efforts are deemed uncollectible and written-off through a charge to the valuation

allowance and elimination of the tenant accounts receivable. Management has recorded an allowance for

doubtful accounts of $2,869 as of June 30, 2024.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary

transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  A three-tier hierarchy prioritizes the inputs

used in measuring fair value.  These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted market

prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that are

either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market

data exists, therefore, requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.  The asset's or liability's fair value

measurement within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value

measurement.

Tenant Security Deposit Funds

Tenant security deposits represent tenant deposits held in accordance with the respective tenant's lease

agreement which are held in trust for the tenants until they vacate the property. Any amounts not returned to the

tenant due to lease violations are transferred to the Project's general operating account.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are defined by the Agency as assets with an initial, individual cost of $1,000 or more and an

estimated useful life of more than one year. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical

cost, if actual cost is not available, and when placed in service. Capital assets are depreciated on a straight-line

basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets (3 - 30 years). Depreciation of capital assets is recorded as an

expense against operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Management reviews the recoverability of its capital assets in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement

No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. GASB

Statement No. 42 requires the recognition of impairment of capital assets in the event an asset's service utility has

declined significantly and unexpectedly. Accordingly, management evaluates its assets' utility annually or when an

event occurs that may impair recoverability of the asset.

Long-Lived Assets

The Project reviews their long-lived assets periodically to determine potential impairment by comparing the

carrying value of those assets with the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use

of the assets, including cash flows from disposition.  Should the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash

flows be less than the carrying value, the Project would recognize an impairment loss at that time.  No impairment

loss was recognized in the fiscal year 2024.

12



The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section of deferred outflows

of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a

consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of

resources (expense) until then. At this time, the Project has no items that are reported in this category.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred

inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents the

acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources

(revenue) until that time.

Original Issue Premium

Original issue premium represents the difference between the face value of the bonds and the consideration

received. Original issue premium is deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line

method. Amortization of the premium is reflected as a decrease to interest expense in the statement of revenues,

expenses, and change in net position.   

Net Position

Net position of the Project is classified in three components:

% Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, including bond proceeds held for capital assets,

net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by any outstanding borrowings used to finance the

purchase or construction of those assets.

% Restricted for debt service and other purposes is net position that is restricted for the future payment of

debt and is required to be held under an agreement with the Trustee, as well as other funds included in

restricted investments.

% Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position that does not meet the definition of net

investment in capital assets or restricted for debt service and other purposes.

Income Taxes

As an essential government function of the Agency, the Project is generally exempt from federal and state income

taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code and a similar provision of state law.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs expensed during the year ended June 30, 2024 were

$33,451.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue Recognition

Housing units are rented under operating lease agreements with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms are

one year or less. Rent income from tenants is recognized in the month in which it is earned rather than received.

Other income consists of income from pet rent, parking, laundry, and utility reimbursements from tenants.

GASB 87 Lease Accounting

The Project is a lessor in multiple housing units lease agreements. The Project accounts for its leases in accordance

with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB"), Statement No. 87, Leases. If the contract provides

the right to substantially all the economic benefits and the right to direct the use of the identified asset, it is

considered to be or contain a lease. Lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources are recognized at the lease

commencement date based on the present value of the future lease payments over the expected lease term. The

deferred inflow of resources is also adjusted for any lease prepayments made, lease incentives received, and

initial direct costs incurred. See Note 9 for leases.

The Project uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Project has elected to not recognize lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources for short-term leases

that have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease commencement and do not include an option to renew the

lease agreement. Leases containing termination clauses in which either party may terminate the lease without

cause and the notice period is less than 12 months are deemed short-term leases. The Project recognizes short-

term lease income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through October 23, 2024, which is the date the financial

statements were available to be issued.

Note 3: Deposits and Investments

The Project's restricted cash and investments are subject to several types of risk:

Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that the changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value

of an investment. The Project does not have a formal investment policy for interest rate risk.

Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk that the issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its

obligations. At June 30, 2024, the Project’s investments were not rated.

14



The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Custodial Credit Risk – Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Project's deposits may

not be returned to it. The Project does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. The Project's deposits are

held with the Trustee and are fully insured.

Although not part of the Indenture, included in restricted cash and cash equivalents are tenant security deposits

of $661,995 as of June 30, 2024. As such, this amount is not included in the table below summarizing restricted

cash and investments by fund.

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Project was required to establish certain restricted reserves with bond proceeds

that were funded at closing for the bond issuance. All reserve accounts are restricted for specific use and

withdrawals from the restricted accounts are subject to approval by the Trustee.

The following table provides a summary of restricted investments by fund as required by the Indenture:

Fund / Account Name

As of June 30,

2024

Revenue fund $ 1,049,813

Operating Reserve fund 662,108

Administrative Expenses fund 166,728

Excess Revenue fund 6,025,379

Extraordinary Expense fund 500,000

Project Acquisition fund 41,574

Capital Reserve fund 7,376,699

Temporary Operating fund 223,824

Senior Debt Service account 1,665,117

Senior Debt Service Reserve fund 4,162,500

Junior Debt Service account 1,236,407

Junior Debt Service Reserve fund 3,125,400

Subordinate Debt Service fund 200,894

Total 26,436,443

Revenue Fund

Pursuant to the Project Administration Agreement (Note 7), at the end of each month, the operator is required to

transfer all monies into the revenue fund held by the Trustee as soon as practicable as long as any bonds remain

outstanding.

Operating Reserve Fund

The operating reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account. If at any time the

amount on deposit in the operating reserve fund exceeds the operating reserve requirement, amounts in excess

of the operating reserve requirement shall be deposited into the revenue fund. As of June 30, 2024, the deposits

on hand in the operating reserve fund met the operating reserve requirement of $662,108.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Administrative Expenses Fund

The administrative expenses fund shall be used only for the purpose of paying administrative expenses. In the

event the amount in the administrative expenses fund is insufficient to pay the administrative expenses, the

trustee shall apply amounts in the operating reserve fund for the payment of administrative expenses.

Excess Revenue Fund

Excess revenue fund shall be applied first to the revenue fund to satisfy any insufficiency of payments required

pursuant to flow of funds, and then to the redemption of bonds. On the first date upon which no bonds remain

outstanding, any and all monies in the excess revenue fund shall be transferred by the Trustee to the project

jurisdiction.

Extraordinary Expense Fund

The extraordinary expense fund is used to pay for extraordinary expenses, as approved by the Agency and

processed by the Trustee. The Trustee will disburse monies from the extraordinary expense fund to the Agency for

certain expenses meeting the extraordinary definition in the Indenture. After discharge of the Indenture, the

Agency shall retain any monies in the extraordinary expense fund, unless a different arrangement is agreed to at

the Agency's discretion. As of June 30, 2024, the deposits on hand in the coverage reserve fund met the coverage

reserve deposit requirement of $500,000.

Project Acquisition Fund

The project acquisition fund is used to pay the amounts required by the provision of the Indenture Agreement and

make disbursements of amounts in accordance with a request of the project administrator for the purposes of

paying a portion of the purchase price of the Project.

Capital Reserve Fund

The capital reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service account. The monies in this

account shall be used for the purposes of paying for capital expenses included in the capital budget or otherwise

expressly authorized by the Project Administration Agreement and capital expenses not included in the capital

budget with the prior written consent of the Authority.

Temporary Operating Fund

The temporary operating account fund shall be used only to fund the operating account pursuant to the Property

Management Agreement and the remaining amount will be available to pay property taxes. Any refunds and

amounts remaining as of January 1, 2022 shall be deposited into the Revenue Fund account and the Temporary

Operating Account shall be closed.

Senior Debt Service Account

The senior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the 2021 A1

bonds, the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before

each principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date.

16



The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3: Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Senior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The senior debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the senior debt service subaccount of the

senior debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the senior debt service reserve fund met

the requirement outlined in the trust indenture.

Junior Debt Service Account

The junior debt service account is used to pay out on or before each interest payment date, for the 2021 A2

bonds, the amount required for the interest payment on such interest payment date and pay out on or before

each principal payment date, the amount required for the principal payment due on such due date.

Junior Debt Service Reserve Fund

The junior debt service reserve fund is used to cure any deficiency in the junior debt service subaccount of the

debt service fund. As of June 30, 2024, the balance on deposit in the junior debt service reserve fund met the

requirement outlined in the trust indenture.

Subordinate Debt Service Account

The subordinate debt service account is used to fund any interest that is due and payable on the next ensuing

interest payment on each series of outstanding subordinate bonds.

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

Quoted market prices are used to determine the fair value of investments in publicly traded equity securities and

exchange traded funds.  Certificates of deposit, corporate bonds, and government obligations are valued using

quotes from pricing vendors based on recent trading activity and other observable market data.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable

value or reflective of future fair value.  Furthermore, while the Project believes their valuation methods are

appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to

determine the fair value could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 4: Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

Information regarding assets at fair value on a recurring basis as of  June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Recurring Fair Value Measurements Using

As of June 30, 2024

Total Assets at

Fair Value

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets for

Identical

Assets

(Level 1)

Significant

Other

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3)

Money market funds $ 9,059,533 $ 9,059,533 $ - $ -

Guaranteed investment contracts 17,376,910 - 17,376,910 -

Total $ 26,436,443 $ 9,059,533 $ 17,376,910 $ -

Following is a description of the valuation methodology and significant inputs used for each asset and liability

measured at fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring basis, as well as the classification of the asset or liability

within the fair value hierarchy.

Money market funds -The fair value of money market funds are based on inputs that are observable, such as

quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities and credit risk.

Guaranteed investment contracts - The fair value of guaranteed investment contracts are based on inputs that are

observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, interest rates, yield curve volatilities and

credit risk. Interest rates range from 0.91% to 1.50%. The contract issuer is contractually obligated to repay the

principal and interest at the specified interest rate that is guaranteed to the investment holder. The investment

holder may withdraw the full principal balance on deposit, terminating the contract, at any time.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 5: Capital Assets

The capital assets balance at June 30, 2024, consists of the following activity:

As of 

Balance

June 30, 2023 Additions Deletions

Balance

June 30, 2024

Capital assets not depreciated:

Land $ 37,689,839 $ - $ - $ 37,689,839

Capital assets depreciable:

Building and improvements 165,258,850 6,453,661 - 171,712,511

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 249,999 14,010 - 264,009

Total depreciable capital assets 165,508,849 6,467,671 - 171,976,520

Less accumulated depreciation:

Building and improvements (10,265,965) (6,077,668) - (16,343,633)

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment (20,441) (51,056) - (71,497)

Total accumulated depreciation (10,286,406) (6,128,724) - (16,415,130)

Total capital assets, depreciable (net) 155,222,443 338,947 - 155,561,390

Capital assets, net $ 192,912,282 $ 338,947 $ - $ 193,251,229

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $6,128,724.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable

On August 19, 2021, the Agency issued Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-1 (Senior Bonds) (Series

2021A-1 Bonds) in the amount of $138,750,000 and Essential Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021 A-2 (Junior

Bonds) (Series 2021A-2 Bonds) in the amount of $78,135,000, collectively, the Series 2021A Bonds. The proceeds

of the Series 2021A Bonds were used for financing the cost of the acquisition of a multifamily rental housing

facility and related improvements known as the Breakwater Apartments and the costs of issuance of the Series

2021A Bonds.

Concurrently with the issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds, the Agency directly issued Subordinate Essential

Housing Revenue Bonds Series 2021B (Series 2021B Bonds) in the amount of $5,000,000 to Catalyst Housing

Group LLC (Catalyst), a California limited liability company, in exchange for the sale and assignment of certain

assets to the Agency, including its purchase rights to the Breakwater Apartments, a business plan and certain

intellectual property created by Catalyst.

The bonds are summarized as follows:

Bonds

Original

Amount

Interest

Rate

Final

Maturity

Date

Balance

Outstanding

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A-1 $ 138,750,000 %3.000 August 1, 2056 $ 138,750,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A-2 78,135,000 %4.000 August 1, 2047 77,270,000

Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds,

Series 2021B 5,000,000 %8.000 August 1, 2061 5,000,000

Activity for the bonds was as follows for the year ended June 30, 2024:

Bonds

Balance

June 30, 2023 Additions Reductions

Balance

June 30, 2024

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A-1 $ 138,750,000 $ - $ - $ 138,750,000

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series  2021 A-2 77,650,000 - (380,000) 77,270,000

Subordinate Essential Housing Revenue Bonds,

Series 2021B 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000

Unamortized Bond Premium Series 2021 A Bonds 12,632,763 - (470,263) 12,162,500

Total $ 234,032,763 $ - $ (850,263) $ 233,182,500

Interest payments on the bonds are due semi-annually (February 1st and August 1st) commencing February 1,

2022. Principal payments are not to be made on either bond unless and until such bond is tendered to the Trustee

for cancellation; however partial payments may be made from time to time at the election of ownership. $50,000

of the outstanding principal balance is classified as a current liability and the remaining $233,132,500 of

outstanding principal is classified as a long-term liability as of June 30, 2024.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

The bonds require the Project to maintain a DSCR, as defined in the agreement, of 1.10:1.00, measured on an

annual basis. If the DSCR calculated is not equal to or greater than 1.10:1.00, the Agency will cause the project

administrator to select and appoint, a housing consultant to make written recommendations regarding the fees,

rentals, rates and charges imposed and collected by or on behalf of the project administrator and transferred to

the Trustee, in connection with the operation of the Project, and regarding improvements or changes in the

operations or management of or the services rendered by the project administrator; provided, however, that in

the event that a housing consultant shall deliver a report to the project administrator, the Agency and the Trustee

stating that state or federal laws or regulations or administrative interpretations of such laws or regulations then

in existence do not permit, or by their application make it impracticable for the project administrator to conduct

its business so as to maintain the DSCR at a level sufficient to meet the debt service coverage requirement, then

the debt service coverage requirement shall be reduced to the highest practicable ratio permitted by the laws or

regulations then in effect but in no event less than 1.00:1.00.

The Agency's principal and interest payments are flexible based on cash flows from the Project. Based on

management projections at the time of underwriting, the amortization schedule is as follows:

Year Ending

June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 $ 50,000 $ 7,687,900 $ 7,737,900

2026 280,000 7,683,900 7,963,900

2027 540,000 7,670,100 8,210,100

2028 825,000 7,645,700 8,470,700

2029 1,125,000 7,609,800 8,734,800

2030-2034 16,575,000 36,194,400 52,769,400

2035-2039 22,360,000 32,747,600 55,107,600

2040-2044 39,215,000 27,045,000 66,260,000

2045-2049 55,755,000 18,737,600 74,492,600

2050-2054 79,295,000 8,946,500 88,241,500

2055-2059 - 2,000,000 2,000,000

2060-2061 5,000,000 1,000,000 6,000,000

Total $ 221,020,000 $ 164,968,500 $ 385,988,500
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 6: Bonds Payable (Continued)

Long-term pledged revenues as of June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Type of Pledged Revenue

Fiscal

Year

Maturity

Date

Pledged

Revenue to

Maturity

Debt Principal

& Interest 

Paid During 

the Year

Ended 2024

2024

Pledged

Revenue

Available

Net Rental Revenue:

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A 2056 $ 365,988,500 $ 7,164,303 $ 7,694,669

Essential Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 B 2061 20,000,000 400,000 400,000

Total $ 385,988,500 $ 7,564,303 $ 8,094,669

Note 7: Related-Party Transactions

The Agency signed a Project Administration Agreement (PAA) with a third-party administrator, Catalyst, on August

1, 2021, for the Project that establishes the terms and conditions upon which the third-party administrator shall,

as an independent contractor, monitor, supervise, coordinate, analyze and report to the Agency with respect to

the Project and the project manager’s performance under the PAA. The PAA renews automatically on its

anniversary date unless terminated as a result of circumstances as defined by the PAA. Project administration fees

incurred and paid to the project administrator under the PAA during the year ended June 30, 2024, were

$250,000. All project administration fees were paid by June 30, 2024, as such, there was no accrued expense at

June 30, 2024.

The Agency also signed a Property Management Agreement (PMA) with a third-party property manager on August

1, 2021, for the project that establishes the terms and conditions for the operation and maintenance of the

project including preparing annual operating budgets, marketing and leasing the project, collecting rents,

managing the payment of operating expenses for the project, maintenance and repair of the project and

management of on-site employees. The PMA renews automatically on its anniversary date unless terminated as a

result of circumstances as defined by the PMA. The property management fees are the greater of 2.00% of gross

operating revenue or $17,300 per month. Property management fees and reimbursable expenses incurred for the

year ended June 30, 2024 were $247,963 and $1,039,621. Accrued property management fees at June 30, 2024,

were $21,808.

Under the terms of the bond indenture, the Project must pay the Agency an annual administrative fee of $150,000

payable each August 1, commencing August 1, 2022. Annual administrative fees accrued as of June 30, 2024 were

$12,500.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 7: Related-Party Transactions (Continued)

The project is subject to a Public Benefit Agreement, which the Agency signed with the City of Huntington Beach,

California (City), and is dated as of August 1, 2021. Pursuant to the Public Benefit Agreement, commencing 15

years after the date of issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds (the sale right exercise date or August 1, 2036), and for

a period of time thereafter terminating on the date that is the earlier of 14 years from the sale right exercise date,

or the date on which there is no debt outstanding, the City shall have the right to cause the Agency to sell all of

the Agency’s right, title and interest, including the fee simple title to the real property, in and to all property and

assets used in or related to the project to the City or the City’s designee, at a sales price at least equal to the sum

of an amount sufficient to prepay any debt secured by the project and any expenses associated with effecting the

sale.

Note 8: Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Agency occasionally becomes involved in legal proceedings relating to

contracts, environmental issues, or other matters. While any proceeding or litigation has an element of

uncertainty, management of the Agency believes that the outcome of any pending or threatened actions,

including the matters referred to below, will not have a material adverse effect on the business or financial

condition of the Agency. It is at least reasonably possible that within the near term an outcome pertaining to

these matters could differ from management’s estimates, and the resulting change could be material to the

financial statements.

Note 9: Leases

The Project enters into lease agreements for each housing unit with terms that vary, but a majority of lease terms

are one year or less. Occasionally, a few lease agreements are leased with terms exceeding twelve months. Each

lease agreement entered does not grant lease renewal options.

The lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Payments due under the lease contracts include fixed payments.

The lease receivable is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease fixed payments over the

lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the

Project's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease receivable associated to these lease agreements

comprise of only fixed payments.

The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured at the commencement of the lease term. This is equal to the

amount of the lease receivable plus any lease payments related to future periods, less any lease incentives paid

to, or on behalf of, the lessee at or before the commencement of the lease term. As of June 30, 2024, the deferred

inflow of resources was $683,442.

As lease payments are received, the lease receivable will be reduced, and the deferred inflow of resources will be

recognized as revenue.
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The Breakwater Apartments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 9: Leases (Continued)

Maturities of lease receivables are as follows as of June 30, 2024:

Total Lease

Payments

Amounts

Representing

Interest

Present Value

of Lease

Payments

2025 $ 640,318 $ 3,703 $ 636,615

2026 2,557 20 2,537

Total $ 642,875 $ 3,723 $ 639,152
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APPENDIX C 
OCCUPANCY REPORT



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Income Restriction Category Units % of Total
Low Income (80% AMI) 137 34%
Median Income (100% AMI) 84 21%
Moderate Income (120% AMI) 71 18%
Non-Program 97 24%
Vacant* 11 3%
Grand Total 400 100%
*Vacant includes model units

Unit AMI Designation
1 Non-Program
2 Median Income (100% AMI)
3 Median Income (100% AMI)
4 Median Income (100% AMI)
5 Median Income (100% AMI)
6 Median Income (100% AMI)
7 Low Income (80% AMI)
8 Non-Program
9 Low Income (80% AMI)
10 Low Income (80% AMI)
11 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
12 Non-Program
13 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
14 Low Income (80% AMI)
15 Low Income (80% AMI)
16 Low Income (80% AMI)
17 Low Income (80% AMI)
18 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
19 Low Income (80% AMI)
20 Low Income (80% AMI)
21 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
22 Non-Program
23 Non-Program
24 Low Income (80% AMI)
25 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
26 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
27 Non-Program
28 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
29 Low Income (80% AMI)
30 Median Income (100% AMI)
31 Non-Program



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
32 Low Income (80% AMI)
33 Median Income (100% AMI)
34 Low Income (80% AMI)
35 Low Income (80% AMI)
36 Non-Program
37 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
38 Non-Program
39 Low Income (80% AMI)
40 Non-Program
41 Low Income (80% AMI)
42 Low Income (80% AMI)
43 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
44 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
45 Vacant
46 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
47 Low Income (80% AMI)
48 Non-Program
49 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
50 Low Income (80% AMI)
51 Median Income (100% AMI)
52 Vacant
53 Non-Program
54 Vacant
55 Low Income (80% AMI)
56 Non-Program
57 Non-Program
58 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
59 Non-Program
60 Non-Program
61 Low Income (80% AMI)
62 Median Income (100% AMI)
63 Non-Program
64 Low Income (80% AMI)
65 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
66 Low Income (80% AMI)
67 Median Income (100% AMI)
68 Median Income (100% AMI)
69 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
70 Non-Program
71 Median Income (100% AMI)
72 Non-Program



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
73 Low Income (80% AMI)
74 Median Income (100% AMI)
75 Low Income (80% AMI)
76 Non-Program
77 Low Income (80% AMI)
78 Low Income (80% AMI)
79 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
80 Non-Program
81 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
82 Low Income (80% AMI)
83 Low Income (80% AMI)
84 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
85 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
86 Median Income (100% AMI)
87 Low Income (80% AMI)
88 Median Income (100% AMI)
89 Low Income (80% AMI)
90 Low Income (80% AMI)
91 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
92 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
93 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
94 Median Income (100% AMI)
95 Non-Program
96 Low Income (80% AMI)
97 Median Income (100% AMI)
98 Low Income (80% AMI)
99 Non-Program
100 Low Income (80% AMI)
101 Median Income (100% AMI)
102 Low Income (80% AMI)
103 Median Income (100% AMI)
104 Low Income (80% AMI)
105 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
106 Non-Program
107 Non-Program
108 Low Income (80% AMI)
109 Vacant
110 Non-Program
111 Non-Program
112 Non-Program
113 Non-Program



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
114 Median Income (100% AMI)
115 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
116 Non-Program
117 Non-Program
118 Median Income (100% AMI)
119 Non-Program
120 Non-Program
121 Median Income (100% AMI)
122 Median Income (100% AMI)
123 Non-Program
124 Non-Program
125 Median Income (100% AMI)
126 Median Income (100% AMI)
127 Median Income (100% AMI)
128 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
129 Median Income (100% AMI)
130 Non-Program
131 Median Income (100% AMI)
132 Low Income (80% AMI)
133 Low Income (80% AMI)
134 Vacant
135 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
136 Low Income (80% AMI)
137 Median Income (100% AMI)
138 Non-Program
139 Non-Program
140 Median Income (100% AMI)
141 Non-Program
142 Vacant
143 Median Income (100% AMI)
144 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
145 Non-Program
146 Low Income (80% AMI)
147 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
148 Median Income (100% AMI)
149 Non-Program
150 Non-Program
151 Low Income (80% AMI)
152 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
153 Low Income (80% AMI)
154 Low Income (80% AMI)



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
155 Low Income (80% AMI)
156 Low Income (80% AMI)
157 Low Income (80% AMI)
158 Non-Program
159 Non-Program
160 Median Income (100% AMI)
161 Median Income (100% AMI)
162 Low Income (80% AMI)
163 Non-Program
164 Low Income (80% AMI)
165 Low Income (80% AMI)
166 Median Income (100% AMI)
167 Median Income (100% AMI)
168 Non-Program
169 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
170 Non-Program
171 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
172 Low Income (80% AMI)
173 Median Income (100% AMI)
174 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
175 Low Income (80% AMI)
176 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
177 Low Income (80% AMI)
178 Median Income (100% AMI)
179 Median Income (100% AMI)
180 Median Income (100% AMI)
181 Vacant
182 Low Income (80% AMI)
183 Median Income (100% AMI)
184 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
185 Median Income (100% AMI)
186 Non-Program
187 Low Income (80% AMI)
188 Low Income (80% AMI)
189 Non-Program
190 Non-Program
191 Low Income (80% AMI)
192 Low Income (80% AMI)
193 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
194 Non-Program
195 Moderate Income (120% AMI)



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
196 Low Income (80% AMI)
197 Low Income (80% AMI)
198 Median Income (100% AMI)
199 Non-Program
200 Low Income (80% AMI)
201 Non-Program
202 Low Income (80% AMI)
203 Low Income (80% AMI)
204 Low Income (80% AMI)
205 Non-Program
206 Non-Program
207 Low Income (80% AMI)
208 Non-Program
209 Low Income (80% AMI)
210 Median Income (100% AMI)
211 Low Income (80% AMI)
212 Low Income (80% AMI)
213 Non-Program
214 Non-Program
215 Low Income (80% AMI)
216 Median Income (100% AMI)
217 Vacant
218 Median Income (100% AMI)
219 Non-Program
220 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
221 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
222 Low Income (80% AMI)
223 Non-Program
224 Low Income (80% AMI)
225 Low Income (80% AMI)
226 Low Income (80% AMI)
227 Low Income (80% AMI)
228 Non-Program
229 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
230 Median Income (100% AMI)
231 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
232 Median Income (100% AMI)
233 Low Income (80% AMI)
234 Non-Program
235 Low Income (80% AMI)
236 Low Income (80% AMI)



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
237 Low Income (80% AMI)
238 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
239 Median Income (100% AMI)
240 Median Income (100% AMI)
241 Low Income (80% AMI)
242 Non-Program
243 Non-Program
244 Low Income (80% AMI)
245 Median Income (100% AMI)
246 Vacant
247 Median Income (100% AMI)
248 Low Income (80% AMI)
249 Low Income (80% AMI)
250 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
251 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
252 Low Income (80% AMI)
253 Median Income (100% AMI)
254 Median Income (100% AMI)
255 Low Income (80% AMI)
256 Non-Program
257 Non-Program
258 Median Income (100% AMI)
259 Low Income (80% AMI)
260 Low Income (80% AMI)
261 Non-Program
262 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
263 Median Income (100% AMI)
264 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
265 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
266 Low Income (80% AMI)
267 Low Income (80% AMI)
268 Non-Program
269 Median Income (100% AMI)
270 Non-Program
271 Low Income (80% AMI)
272 Non-Program
273 Median Income (100% AMI)
274 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
275 Low Income (80% AMI)
276 Non-Program
277 Low Income (80% AMI)



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
278 Non-Program
279 Low Income (80% AMI)
280 Median Income (100% AMI)
281 Low Income (80% AMI)
282 Low Income (80% AMI)
283 Low Income (80% AMI)
284 Median Income (100% AMI)
285 Low Income (80% AMI)
286 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
287 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
288 Non-Program
289 Low Income (80% AMI)
290 Low Income (80% AMI)
291 Non-Program
292 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
293 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
294 Low Income (80% AMI)
295 Non-Program
296 Median Income (100% AMI)
297 Median Income (100% AMI)
298 Low Income (80% AMI)
299 Non-Program
300 Non-Program
301 Low Income (80% AMI)
302 Median Income (100% AMI)
303 Median Income (100% AMI)
304 Low Income (80% AMI)
305 Low Income (80% AMI)
306 Low Income (80% AMI)
307 Non-Program
308 Low Income (80% AMI)
309 Low Income (80% AMI)
310 Low Income (80% AMI)
311 Low Income (80% AMI)
312 Median Income (100% AMI)
313 Low Income (80% AMI)
314 Low Income (80% AMI)
315 Non-Program
316 Vacant
317 Low Income (80% AMI)
318 Non-Program



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
319 Median Income (100% AMI)
320 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
321 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
322 Median Income (100% AMI)
323 Low Income (80% AMI)
324 Low Income (80% AMI)
325 Low Income (80% AMI)
326 Non-Program
327 Vacant
328 Low Income (80% AMI)
329 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
330 Low Income (80% AMI)
331 Median Income (100% AMI)
332 Low Income (80% AMI)
333 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
334 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
335 Low Income (80% AMI)
336 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
337 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
338 Low Income (80% AMI)
339 Median Income (100% AMI)
340 Median Income (100% AMI)
341 Median Income (100% AMI)
342 Median Income (100% AMI)
343 Median Income (100% AMI)
344 Non-Program
345 Low Income (80% AMI)
346 Non-Program
347 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
348 Low Income (80% AMI)
349 Low Income (80% AMI)
350 Non-Program
351 Low Income (80% AMI)
352 Median Income (100% AMI)
353 Median Income (100% AMI)
354 Low Income (80% AMI)
355 Low Income (80% AMI)
356 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
357 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
358 Non-Program
359 Non-Program



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation
360 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
361 Non-Program
362 Median Income (100% AMI)
363 Median Income (100% AMI)
364 Non-Program
365 Low Income (80% AMI)
366 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
367 Non-Program
368 Non-Program
369 Median Income (100% AMI)
370 Non-Program
371 Low Income (80% AMI)
372 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
373 Median Income (100% AMI)
374 Low Income (80% AMI)
375 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
376 Non-Program
377 Low Income (80% AMI)
378 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
379 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
380 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
381 Median Income (100% AMI)
382 Low Income (80% AMI)
383 Non-Program
384 Low Income (80% AMI)
385 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
386 Low Income (80% AMI)
387 Non-Program
388 Median Income (100% AMI)
389 Non-Program
390 Median Income (100% AMI)
391 Median Income (100% AMI)
392 Non-Program
393 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
394 Non-Program
395 Median Income (100% AMI)
396 Low Income (80% AMI)
397 Low Income (80% AMI)
398 Moderate Income (120% AMI)
399 Low Income (80% AMI)
400 Low Income (80% AMI)



Breakwater Apartments Program Occupancy Report 12/31/2024

Unit AMI Designation

In 2024, the Project Administrator has been investing in upgraded 
reporting infrastructure. With our new capabilities, we look 
forward to working with our stakeholders to implement 
enhancements in our reporting packages.



APPENDIX D 
CERTIFICATE OF THE DISCLOSURE REPRESENTATIVE

I, John Stoecker, of the CMFA Special Finance Agency VII (the “Disclosure Representative”) hereby certify 
that the Agency has observed and performed all of its covenants and agreements set forth in the Indenture and the 
other Bond Documents, and no Event of Default (as defined in the Bond Documents) has occurred or exists.   

CMFA Special Finance Agency VII, as Disclosure Representative 

By:______________________ 



FY 2024/25 Mid-Year 
Budget Update

City Council Meeting

March 18, 2025
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City Budget and Financial Position – FY 2023/24

The City ended FY 2023/24 with a $2.7 million General Fund surplus.
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Description In Thousands

Revenue (Recurring) $290,289

Revenue (One-Time) * 2,276

Planned Use of Reserves 4,900

Total Sources of Funds $297,465

Expenditures less UAL 266,694

CalPERS UAL 4,643

POB Payment 13,255

One-Time Expenditures** 6,038

Total Expenditures $290,630

Other Restricted Changes in General Fund Balance*** 4,119

General Fund (Fund 100) Surplus $2,716

* FY 23/24 one-time revenue consists of $2.3M for Emerald Cove Superior Court Judgment 
** Includes $4.9M for AES Transfer and $1.1M Transfer of 50% of Emerald Cove settlement to the General Liability Fund
*** Includes adjustments to YE Market Value and set-asides for Ocean View Estates and General Plan Maintenance



City Budget and Financial Position – FY 2024/25

The California unemployment rate increased slightly from 5.3% in September to 5.4% in 

October 2024, a full percentage point above pre-pandemic levels. Economic uncertainty 

stemming from higher business operating costs and potential tariffs could exert upward 

pressure on prices, driving down sales transactions. 

• Property tax revenues, the City’s largest General Fund revenue source (35.8%), 

remains strong, with a 4.5% citywide growth in value in the 2024-25 assessment roll.

• Sales tax revenues, the City’s second largest General Fund revenue source (17.7%), is 

projected to decline from the budgeted amount of $53.5 million.  Revised projections 

based on Q4 2024 will be available in the upcoming weeks.

• In October 2024, the City was awarded a $5 million settlement from Amplify for the 

2021 Oil Spill. 
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City Projected Financial Position – FY 2024/25
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* FY 24/25 one‐time consists of the General Fund portion of the first payment of the Waterfront Loan Settlement ($6.9M) and the Oil Spill 
Settlement ($4M). 
** Planned use of reserves includes YTD approved use of HB Recovery Reserves for the Oil Well Abandonment Project.
*** One-time expenditures includes transfers out of the Waterfront Loan Settlement ($6.9M), transfers out of 25% of the Oil Spill 
Settlement to the Section 115 Trust ($1M) per the City's current Reserve Policies, and estimated costs for the Special Election ($1.3M).

Description In Thousands

Revenue (Recurring) $293,540

Revenue (One-Time) * 10,877

Planned Use of Reserves ** 1,890

Total Sources of Funds $306,307

Expenditures less UAL 274,598

CalPERS UAL 5,215

POB Payment 13,106

One-Time Expenditures *** 11,090

Total Expenditures $304,009

General Fund (Fund 100) Surplus $2,298

NOTE:  City Council is reviewing the City's 
Reserve Policies.  The $2.3M surplus 
shown above illustrates the year-end 
surplus should the $4M Oil Spill 
Settlement revenues be used to cover 
recurring General Fund expenditures.  



General Fund Long-Term Financial Plan
9.5% CalPERS Return FY23/24
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* FY 23/24 one-time revenue consists of $2.3M for Emerald Cove Superior Court Judgment.  FY 24/25 one‐time 
consists of the General Fund portion of the first payment of the Waterfront Loan Settlement. 
** Future CalPERS UAL Costs are estimated using the most recent CalPERS investment return of 9.5% in FY 23/24. 

(in thousands)
Actual 

FY23/24

Projected 

FY24/25

Projected 

FY25/26

Projected 

FY26/27

Projected 

FY27/28

Projected 

FY28/29

Revenue (Recurring) 290,289 293,540 296,455 303,967 311,720 320,019

Revenue (One-Time)* 2,276 10,877 - - - -

Planned Use of Reserves 4,900 1,890 - - - -

Total Sources of Funds 297,465 306,307 296,455 303,967 311,720 320,019

Expenditures less UAL 266,694 274,598 282,175 290,563 297,958 304,813

CalPERS UAL ** 4,643 5,215 10,305 13,290 16,262 19,222

POB Payment 13,255 13,106 12,750 12,537 12,384 12,229

One-Time Expenditures 6,038 11,090 - - - -

Total Expenditures 290,630 304,009 305,230 316,390 326,604 336,264

Restricted Reserves 4,119 - - - - -

Surplus/(Deficit) $2,716 $2,298 ($8,775) ($12,423) ($14,884) ($16,245)



Questions?



Review of HB Adopted Reserve 
Policies

Finance Commission Meeting
March 26, 2025
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HB Budget & City Financial Mgmt.
City budget and financial management are controlled by the following:

• City Charter – Section 401 & 601-605
• Infrastructure Fund – Section 617

• Municipal Code – Title 2.15 & 2.08.101
• Finance Department / City Manager

• City Administrative Regulations (AR) – 300 Financial Administration 

• City Council Adopted Financial Policies
• Reviewed, updated and adopted during annual budget process

• City Strategic Plan
• Fiscal Stability  
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HB Strategic Plan Objectives

City Priority: FISCAL STABILITY
• “Available funding to support a high-quality level of 

programs, services and capital investments and to build 
a structural surplus.”

Fiscal Stability Strategy
• “Consider new revenue sources and opportunities         

to support the City’s priority initiatives and projects.”
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Balanced vs Sustainable Budget
• A balanced budget isn’t always a healthy one.

• A sustainable operating budget is one where 
“normally occurring revenues are equal to your 
normally occurring expenditures.”

• Steps to identify key items related to structural 
balance include evaluating recurring and non-
recurring revenues, recurring and non-recurring 
expenditures, and reserves.
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HB Adopted Budget Policies
• The City will maintain a balanced budget for all 

funds with estimated revenues being equal to, or 
greater than, estimated expenditures.

• On-going revenues will support on-going 
expenditures.

• Revenues from one-time or limited duration 
sources will not be used to balance the annual 
operating budget.
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Fund Balance Classifications
• Non-spendable: Includes amounts that are not in spendable form and typically includes 

inventories, prepaid items, and other items that, by definition cannot be appropriated.

• Restricted: Includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by 
constitution, external resource providers, or through enabling legislation.

• Committed: Includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a 
formal action of the City Council.

• The City Council has authority to establish, modify, or rescind a fund balance commitment by formal 
action.

• Assigned: These funds are intended to be used by the City for specific purposes but do not meet 
the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. 

• The City Manager or designee has the authority to establish, modify, or rescind a fund balance 
assignment.

• Unassigned: These funds are the residual classification for the City’s funds and includes                     
all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications.
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Reserve Funding - Unassigned
• City has treated one-time funds as unassigned fund balance for the 

purposes of applying them per the adopted reserve policies.

• To the extent that there is a GF structural deficit, no funds are 
available to allocate to the adopted reserves.

• City Charter requires the annual funding of the Infrastructure Fund.  
• Revenues placed in the Infrastructure Fund shall not supplant existing 

infrastructure funding. 
• Expenditures for infrastructure improvements and maintenance, subsequent 

to 2001, shall not be reduced below 15% of general fund revenues based on 
a five- (5) year rolling average.

• Current funding requirement of $14.5M
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Adopted Reserve Policy Requirements
Economic Uncertainties Reserve (EUR)
• Funds will be available for extreme emergency situations

Equipment Reserve (ER)
• Used for rolling stock, equipment, and equipment to sustain city 

infrastructure

CIP Reserve (CIR)
• Construction or improvements of city infrastructure

Litigation Reserve (LR)
• Cover unforeseen litigation losses exceeding the budgeted amount

Unfunded Accrued Liability Pension Reserve (UALPR)
• Cover the costs to reduce volatility and offset unexpected             

pension rate changes
8



Reserve EUR Funding Requirements

• Monetary goal is to be equal to the value of two months of the GF expenditures in the 
adopted budget, adjusted annually. 

• Appropriations from the EUR can only be made by a 6/7 vote of the City Council.

• Funds can only be appropriated or accessed for emergency situations included, but not 
limited to:

• An unplanned, major event such as a catastrophic disaster requiring over 5% of the GF adopted 
budget

• Budgeted revenues in excess of $1M taken by another government agency

• Drop in projected/actual revenues of more than 5% of the GF adopted budget.

• EUR will not be accessed to fund new programs or personnel 
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Reserve EUR / Other Funding
Audited GF unassigned fund balance will be allocated as follows:

• Initial allocation of any unassigned fund balance will go to Unfunded 
Accrued Liability Pension per adopted policy, long term debt, and 
improving city infrastructure.

• Remaining allocation, if EUR is not fully funded:
• 50% to EUR / 25% Infrastructure / 25% to CIR 

• Remaining allocation, if EUR is fully funded:
• 50% Infrastructure / 25% to CIR / 25% Equipment Replacement

• A minimum of 25% of unrestricted one-time GF revenues   
transferred to Section 115 Trust
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UAL Funding Policy
• Minimum Contribution of $1m to the 115 Trust

• Perpetual Set-aside of 50% of Pension Refinance Savings (est. ($978M 
– Set-aside 50% = $489M)

• Additional 50% set-aside of any GF Surplus into a Restricted GF 
Pension Rate Stabilization Reserve

• Accelerate the payoff/funding new UAL based on schedule 

• ADP payments may be deposited with CalPERS at anytime
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General Fund Reserves
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Nonspendable
$148$148Prepaids

Restricted
$364Underground
$317Restitution
$777Donations

$21,670$20,212Section 115 Trust Funded

Committed
$49,090Economic Uncertainties

$1,379Other Capital Projects
$52,023$1,554Other Purposes

Sub Total
Amount  
ThousandsDescriptionType

Sub Total(Thousands)As of 6/30/2024
GF Fund 
Reserves

Sub Total
Amount  
ThousandsDescriptionType

Sub Total(Thousands)As of 6/30/2024
GF Fund 
Reserves

Assigned
$3,650Litigation Reserves

$9,425
Capital Improvement 
Reserve

$8,295Equipment Replacement
$1,651General Plan Maintenance

$10,886HB Recovery Fund
$641Oceanview Estates

$2,801
General Liability Plan 
Migration

$5,517Pension Rate Stabilization
$4,211Section 115 Trust Reserves
$3,025Year-end Fair Value

$58,478$8,376Other Purposes

$132,319Total



Questions?

Feedback



Sample One-Time Revenue Policy
Purpose of Policy 
The City of HB (hereinafter “City”) strives to attain and maintain a 
structurally sound, thoughtful, and sustainable balanced budget within 
statutory and local government requirements.  The purpose of this 
policy is to specify the uses of one-time revenues to help the City 
spend within its means and preserve its long-term fiscal health.  
Policy – One Time Revenue 
The City shall not use one-time revenues to finance ongoing programs. 
To the extent feasible, one-time revenues shall be applied only towards 
one-time expenditures.  Furthermore, one-time revenues shall not be 
used for non-recurring expenses that may result in future year 
obligations such as debt service payments, staffing, and other 
anticipated operating cost expenditures.  It may be used to balance a 
one-year budget deficit with a 6/7th vote of the City Council.
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Cash Balances For All Funds

Other Funds

General Fund
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$281,454 

$312,574 
$326,364 $320,557 

$350,783 
$372,617 

$74,837 $76,365 $86,267 $99,943 
$115,922 

$127,561 

 $-
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 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000
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Cash Balance – Fund Type
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2024FUNDS

$132,319 General Fund

$33,015 Infrastructure Funds – (Charter Requirement)

$82,380 Enterprise Total

$52,707 ISF Total

$85,339 Restricted Funds Total

$119,176 Fiduciary Funds Total*

$504,936 TOTAL CASH
*Include Pension (Supplemental & 115 / OPEB Funds
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